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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings™) files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and
other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). You may read and copy any document
Holdings files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549,
You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
The SEC maintains an internet site that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Holdings’ electronic SEC

filings are available to the public at http-//www sec.gov,

Holdings™ public internet site is http://www lehman com. Holdings makes available free of charge through its
internet site, via a link to the SEC’s internet site at http://www sec gov, its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after it
electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the SEC.

In addition, Holdings currently makes available on http://www lehman com its most recent annual report on
Form 10-K, its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the current fiscal year, its most recent proxy statement and its
most recent annual report to shareholders, although in some cases these documents are not available on that site as
soon as they are available on the SEC’s site. You will need to have on your computer the Adobe Acrobat Reader
software to view these documents, which are in the .PDF format. If you do not have Adobe Acrobat, a link to
Adobe Systems Incorporated’s internet site, from which you can download the software, is provided.




PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

As used herein, “Holdings” or the “Registrant” means Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation,
incorporated on December 29, 1983. Holdings and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Company,” the
“Firm” or “Lehman Brothers,” and Lehman Brothers Inc., a Delaware corporation and the principal subsidiary of
Holdings, is referred to herein as “LBL”

The Company is one of the leading global investment banks, serving institutional, corporate, government and high-
net-worth individual clients and customers. Its executive offices are located at 745 Seventh Avenue, New York, New
York 10019, and its telephone number is {212) 526-7000.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Report, including those relating to the
Company’s strategy and other statements that are predictive in nature, that depend upen or refer to future events or
conditions, or that include words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates” and similar
expressions, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
These statements are not historical facts but instead represent only the Firm’s expectations, estimates and projections
regarding future events. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and invelve certain risks and
uncertainties that are difficult to predict, which may include market, credit or counterparty, liquidity, legal and
operational risks. Those risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:

L

o Market Fluctuations and Volatility. Changes in interest and foreign exchange rates, securities and commodities
valuations and increases in volatility can increase risk, and may also impact customer flow related revenues in
the Company’s Capital Markets and Client Services businesses, as well as impact the volume of debt and equity
underwritings and merger and acquisition transactions.

o Industry Competition and Changes in Competitive Environment. Increased competition from both banking
institutions and non-traditional financial services providers and from industry consolidation could impact fees
carned from the Company’s investment banking and capital markets businesses.

e Investor Sentiment. This past year has seen a record number of accounting and corporate governance scandals,
which have had a significant impact on investor confidence in the marketplace. In addition, geopolitical
concemns about possible military action and terrorist activities can have an effect on the global financial markets.

e  Liguidity. Liquidity risk management is of critical importance to the Company. Liquidity could be impacted by
the inability to access the long-term or short-term debt markets or the repurchase and securities lending martkets.
However, the Company’s liquidity and funding policies have been designed with the goal of providing sufficient
liguidity resources to continually fund its balance sheet and to meet all obligations in all market environments.

o Credit Ratings. The Company’s access to the unsecured funding markets is dependent upon the Company’s
credit ratings. A reduction in the Company’s credit ratings could adversely affect the Company’s access to
liquidity alternatives and its competitive position, and could increase the cost of funding, or trigger additional
collateral requirements.

s Credit Exposure. Credit risk represents the possibility that a counterparty will be unable to honor its contractual
obligations to the Company. Although the Company actively manages daily credit risk exposure as part of its
risk management framework, counterparty default risk may arise from unforeseen events or circumstances.

e Legal/Regulatory. Legal risks include litigation (see “Item 3—Legal Proceedings™ herein) and legislative and
regulatory developments in the United States and other jurisdictions, which could have unforeseeable impacts on
the Firm’s businesses and results.




The Firm’s actual results and financial condition may differ, perhaps materially, from the anticipated results and
financial condition in any forward-looking statements, and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on such statements. For more information concerning the risks and other factors that could affect the Firm’s
future results and financial condition, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in the 2002 Annual Report. The
Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

LEHMAN BROTHERS

Lehman Brothers is one of the leading global investment banks, serving institutional, corporate, government and
high-net-worth individual clients and customers. The Company’s worldwide headquarters in New York and regional
headquarters in London and Tokyo are complemented by offices in additional locations in the United States, Europe, the
Middle East, Latin America and the Asia Pacific region. The Company is engaged primarily in providing financial
services. Other businesses in which the Company is engaged represent less than 10 percent of consolidated assets,
revenues or pre-tax income.

The Company’s business includes capital raising for clients through securities underwriting and direct placements,
corporate finance and strategic advisory services, private equity investments, securitics sales and trading, research, and
the trading of foreign exchange and derivative products and certain commodities. The Company acts as a market-maker
in all major equity and fixed income products in both the U.S. and international markets. Lehman Brothers is a member
of all principal securities and commodities exchanges in the United States, as well as the National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD™), and holds memberships or associate memberships on several principal intemational
securities and commodities exchanges, including the London, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Frankfurt, Paris and Milan stock
exchanges.

Lehman Brothers provides a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide. Through the
Company’s investment banking, trading, research, structuring and distribution capabilities in equity and fixed income
products, the Company continues its focus of building its client/customer business model. These “customer flow”
activities represent a majority of the Company’s revenues. In addition to its customer flow activities, the Company also
takes proprietary positions, the success of which is dependent on its ability to anticipate economic and market trends.
The Company believes its customer flow orientation mitigates its overall revenue volatility.

The Company operates in three business segments (each of which is described below): Investment Banking, Capital
Markets and Client Services. Financial information concerning the Company for the fiscal years ended November 30,
2002, November 30, 2001, and November 30, 2000, including the amount of net revenue contributed by each segment
in such periods, is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto in the 2002 Annual Report
and is incorporated herein by reference. Information with respect to the Company’s operations by segment and net
revenues by geographic area is set forth under the captions “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Segments” and “—
Geographic Diversification™ and in Note 21 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2002 Annual
Report and is incorporated herein by reference.

Investment Banking

Lehman Brothers® Investment Banking professionals are responsible for developing and maintaining relationships
with issuer clients, gaining a thorough understanding of their specific needs and bringing together the full resources of
Lehman Brothers to accomplish their financial and strategic objectives. Investment Banking is organized into industry,
geographic and product coverage groups, enabling individual bankers to develop specific expertise in particular
industries and markets. Industry coverage groups include Cemmunications & Media, Consumer/Retailing, Financial
Institutions, Financial Sponsors, Healthcare, Industrial, Natural Resources, Power, Real Estate and Technology. Where
appropriate, specialized product groups are partnered with the global industry and geographic groups to provide tailor-
made solutions for Lehman Brothers® clients. These product groups include Equity Capital Markets, which consists of
equity and equity-related securities and derivatives, Debt Capital Markets, which incorporates expertise in syndicate,
liability management, derivatives and bank loan syndication, Private Placements, Leveraged Finance and Mergers &




Acquisitions/Strategic Advisory Services. Geographically, Lehman Brothers maintains investment banking offices in
seven cities in the U.S, and in sixteen cities in Europe, the Middle East, Asia and Latin America. The high degree of
integration among the Company’s industry, product and geographic groups has allowed Lehman Brothers to become a
leading source of one-stop financial solutions for its global clients.

Mergers & Acquisitions/Strategic Advisory. Lehman Brothers has a long history of providing strategic advisory
services to corporale, institutional and government clients around the world on a wide range of financial matters,
including mergers and acquisitions, restructurings and spin-offs, targeted stock transactions, share repurchase strategies,
govemment privatization programs, takeover defenses and other strategic advice.

Underwriting. The Company is a leading underwriter of initial and other public and private offerings of equity and
fixed income securities, including listed and over-the-counter securitics, govermmment and agency securities and
mortgage- and asset-backed securities.

Capital Markets

Lehman Brothers combines the skills from the sales, trading and research areas of its Equities and Fixed Income
Divisions to serve the financial needs of the Company’s clients and customers. This integrated approach enables Lehman
Brothers to structure and execute global transactions for clients and to provide worldwide liquidity in marketable
securities.

Equities

The Equities group is responsible for the Company’s equity operations and all dollar and non-dollar equity and
equity-related products worldwide. These products include listed and over-the-counter securities, American Depositary
Receipts, convertibles, options, warrants and derivatives.

Equity Cash Products. Lehman Brothers makes markets in equity and equity-related securities, and executes block
trades on behalf of clients and customers. The Company participates in the global equity and equity-related markets in
all major currencies through its worldwide presence and membership in major stock exchanges, including, among
others, those in New York, London, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Frankfurt, Paris and Milan.

Equity Derivatives. Lehman Brothers offers equity derivative capabilities across a wide spectrum of products and
currencies, including domestic and international portfolio trading, listed options and futures and over-the-counter
derivatives. The Firm’s equity derivatives business is organized into two major product areas: a global volatility
business, encompassing options-related products, and a global portfolio trading business that specializes in agency/risk
baskets and other structured products.

Equity Finance. Lehman Brothers maintains an integrated Equity Financing and Prime Broker business to provide
liquidity to its clients and customers and supply a source of secured financing for the Firm. Equity Financing provides
financing in all markets on a margin basis for customer purchases of equities and other capital markets products as well
as securities lending and short-seiling facilitation. The Prime Broker business also engages in full operations, clearing
and processing services for that unit’s customers.

Arbitrage. Lehman Brothers engages in a variety of arbitrage activities including “riskless” arbitrage, where the
Company seeks to benefit from temporary price discrepancies that occur when a security is traded in two or more
markets, and “risk” arbitrage activities, which involve the purchase of securities at discounts from the expected values
that would be realized if certain proposed or anticipated corporate transactions {(such as mergers, acquisitions,
recapitalizations, exchange offers, reorganizations, bankruptcies, liquidations or spin-offs) were to occur. Lehman
Brothers’ arbitrage activitics benefit from the Company’s presence in the global capital markets, access to advanced
information technology, in-depth market research, proprietary risk management tools and general experience in
assessing rapidly changing market conditions.




Fixed Income

Lehman Brothers actively participates in all key fixed income markets worldwide and maintains a 24-hour trading
presence in global fixed income securities. The Company is a preeminent market-maker in new issue and other fixed
income securities.

Fixed Income businesses include the following:

Government and Agency Obligations. Lehman Brothers is one of the leading primary dealers in U.S. government
securities, as designated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, participating in the underwriting and market-making
of U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds, and securities of federal agencies. The Company is also a market-maker in the
government securities of all G7 countries, and participates in other major European and Asian government bond
markets,

Corporate Debt Securities and Loans. Lehman Brothers makes markets in fixed and floating rate investment grade
debt worldwide. The Company is also a major participant in the preferred stock market, managing numerous offerings of
leng-term and perpetual preferreds and auction rate securities.

High Yield Securities and Leveraged Bank Loans. The Company also makes markets in non-investment grade debt
securitics and bank loans. Lehman Brothers provides “one-stop” leveraged financing solutions for corporate and
financial acquirers and high yield issuers, including multi-tranche, multi-product acquisition financing. The Company
remains one of the leading investment banks in the syndication of leveraged loans.

Money Market Products. Lehman Brothers holds leading market positions in the origination and distribution of
medium-term notes and commercial paper. The Company is an appointed dealer or agent for numerous active
commercial paper and medium-term note programs on behalf of companies and government agencies worldwide.

Morigage and Asset-Backed Securities. The Company is a leading underwriter of and market-maker in residential
and commercial mottgage- and asset-backed securities and is active in all areas of secured lending, structured finance
and securitized products. Lehman Brothers underwrites and makes markets in the full range of U.S. agency-backed
mortgage products, mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securitics and whole loan products. It is also a leader in the
global market for residential and commercial mortgages (including mulii-family financing) and leases . The Company
also originates mortgage loans directly through its subsidiary savings bank, Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB. In addition,
Lehman Brothers engages in select investments in commercial and residential properties.

Municipal and Tax-Exempt Securities. Lehman Brothers is a major dealer in municipal and tax-exempt securities,
including general obligation and revenue bonds, notes issued by states, counties, cities, and state and local governmental
agencies, municipal leases, tax-exempt commercial paper and put bonds.

Financing. The Company’s Financing Unit engages in three primary functions: managing the Company’s matched
book activities, supplying secured financing to customers, and providing funding for the Company’s activities. Matched
book funding involves botrowing and lending cash on a short-term basis to institutional customers collateralized by
marketable securities, typically government or government agency securities. The Company enters into these agreements
in various currencies and seeks to generate profits from the difference between interest earned and interest paid. The
Financing Unit works with the Company’s institutional sales force to identify custorers that have cash to invest and/or
securities to pledge to meet the financing and investment objectives of the Company and its customers, Financing also
coordinates with the Company’s Treasury area to provide collateralized financing for a large portion of the Company’s
securities and other financial instruments owned. In addition to its activities on behalf of its U.S. clients and customets,
the Company is a major participant in the European and Asian repurchase agreement markets, providing secured
financing for the Firm’s customers in those regions,

Fixed Income Derivatives. The Company offers a broad range of derivative, interest rate and credit products and
services. Derivatives professionals arc integrated into all of the Company’s fixed income areas in response to the
worldwide convergence of the cash and derivative markets.




Foreign Exchange. Lehman Brothers® global foreign exchange operations provide market access and liquidity in
all currencies for spot, forward and over-the-counter options matkets around the clock. Lehman Brothers offers its
custorners superior execution, market intelligence, analysis and hedging capabilities, utilizing foreign exchange as well
as foreign exchange options and derivatives. Lehman Brothers also provides advisory services to central barnks,
cotporations and investors worldwide, structuring innovative products to fit their specific needs. The Finn makes
extensive use of its global macroeconomics research to advise clients on the appropriate strategies to minimize interest
rate and currency risk,

Lehman Brothers Bank. Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB, offers traditional and online mortgage and banking services
nationally to individuals as well as institutions and their customers on a co-branded basis through its Alliance
Partnership Program, which creates strategic partnerships with retail and financial organizations throughout the
country. The Bank is a major part of the Finm’s institutional mortgage business, providing an origination pipeline for
mortgages and asset-backed securities.

Global Distribution

Lehman Brothers’ institutional sales organizations encompass distinct global sales forces that have been integrated
into the Fixed Income and Equities Capital Markets businesses to provide investors with the full array of products and
research offered by the Firm.

Equity Sales. Lehman Brothers’ institutional Equity sales force provides an extensive range of services to
institational investors through locations in the U.S., Europe and Asia. The Equity sales organization focuses on
developing long-term relationships though a comprehensive understanding of customers’ investment objectives, while
providing proficient execution and consistent liquidity in a wide range of global equity securities and derivatives.

Fixed Income Sales. Lehman Brothers’ Fixed Income sales force is one of the most productive in the industry,
serving the investing and liquidity needs of major institutional investors. Employing a relationship management
approach that provides superior information flow and product opportunities for the Fimni’s customers, the Fixed income
sales organization covers the major share of the buying poewer in the global fixed income markets.

Research

Research at Eehman Brothers encompasses the full range of research disciplines, including quantitative, economic,
strategic, credit, relative value and market-specific analysis.

Eguity Research. To ensure in-depth expertise within various markets, Equity Research has established regional
teams on a worldwide basis that are staffed with industry and strategy specialists.

Fixed Income Research. The Firm’s Fixed Income Research specialists provide expertise in U.S., European and
Asian government and agency securities, derivatives, sovereign issues, corporate securities, high yield, asset- and
mortgage-backed securities, indices, emerging market debt and municipal securities.

Client Services

Client Services includes the Company’s Private Client Services group, a retail-based organization that primarily
serves the investment needs of wealthy individuals, and its Private Equity Division, which manages assets through a
series of private equity funds and investments.

Private Client Services

The Company’s Private Client Services group’s investment representatives serve the investment needs of private

investors with substantial assets as well as thousands of mid-sized institutional accounts worldwide. The group has
investment representatives located in 14 offices around the globe. Investment professionals provide their clients with




direct access to banking, fixed income, equity, foreign exchange and derivative products, as well as the Firm’s research
and execution capabilities.

Lehman Brothers also provides asset management services, including Investment Consulting Services, a wrap-fee
series of third party managed products, management of multiple manager funds onshore and offshore and a managed
futures advisory business. The Firm also has dealer agreements with a large number of mutual fund families.

Lehman Brothers is expanding its asset management activities to focus on the strategic development of a
comprehensive asset management platform for the Firm, drawing on—and providing both individual and institutional
clients with access to—Lehman Brothers’ investment advisory expertise across various asset classes and
geographies. Those responsibilities include the Firm’s recently established asset management initiatives, such as
Lehman Brothers Alternative Investment Management (the Firm’s joint venture with Ehrenkranz & Ehrenkranz) and
its investment in the United Kingdom’s Edgeworth Capital. In January 2003, Lehman Brothers acquired the fixed
income investment management business of Lincoln Capital Management, which will become the Firm's U.S.
institutional fixed income management platform for large institutional investors.

Private Equity

The Company cutrently has over $4.5 billion in Private Equity assets under management, primarily in five asset
classes: Merchant Banking, Venture Capital, Real Estate, Fixed Income-related and Third Party Funds. The primary
goal of each asset class is to make investments that provide attractive risk-adjusted retums to investors, including
institutions, high-net-worth individuals, the Firm and certain employees of the Firm.

Merchant Banking. Lehman Brothers’ merchant banking activities include making principal equity investments,
often in partnership with clients of the Firm. Merchant banking seeks to partner with proven operating teams that have
compelling business strategies and growth plans, with the aim of creating long-term value for investors.

Venture Capital. Lehman Brothers” venture capital funds are focused on making growth-oriented equity
investments in technology, communications and healthcare companies. Venture capital investments focus on
companies capable of tuming innovative technology and management solutions into successful businesses.

Real Estate. Lehman Brothers’ Real Estate Fund is focused on making real estate equity investments in North
America and Eurepe in a wide variety of comimercial and residential properties, real estate companies and related
service businesses.

Fixed Income-related. This asset class is currently comprised of two investing activities: European mezzanine
investments and collateralized debt obligation (CDO)-related investments.

Third Party Funds. This asset class consists of investment activities related to non-affiliated partnerships, including
a fund-of-funds for investments in other private equity funds, purchasing secondary limited partnership interests in
existing private equity funds and managing co-investment programs on behalf of large institutional investors.

Commitments for all of the Firm'’s private equity funds are raised in private placements not requiring registration
under the Securities Act of 1933.

Technology and e-Commerce

Lehman Brothers is committed to maintaining a technology platform to deliver a full range of capital markets
information and services to its institutional and high-net-worth client base. The Firm-wide e-Commerce organization,
which brings together senior management from all of the Firm’s global business areas, has developed the Firm’s overall
e-commerce strategy, approves all e-commerce investrnents and provides a forum to share e-commerce knowledge and
new developments across the Firm’s businesses and geographies. The Finm’s e-commerce strategy focuses on client and
markets connectivity, content and strategic ventures. Lehman Brothers has an integrated client and employee web site,
LehmanLive, which serves as a complete suite of services, including research and analytics, trade and post-trade




(clearing and settlement information, risk management and prime brokerage) information and eraployse applications.
Lehman Brothers has made many strategic investments and is a participant in a number of institutional trading networks
in the U.S., Europe and Asia. Notable investments include TradeWeb, MarketAxess and SecuriticsHub in Fixed Income,
and TheMarkets.com, EquiLend, Redi/Arca and NYFIX Millennium in Equities. Additionally, Lehman Brothers has
supported the global expansion of NASDAQ with an invesiment in its U.S. and European ventures.

Corporate

The Company’s Corporate division provides support to its businesses through the processing of certain securities
and commedities transactions; receipt, identification and delivery of funds and securities; safeguarding of customers’
securities; risk management; and compliance with regulatory and legal requirements. In addition, this staff is responsible
for technology infrastructure and systems development, treasury operations, financial control and analysis, tax planning
and compliance, internal audit, expense management, career development and recruiting and other support functions.

Risk Management

As a leading global investment banking company, risk is an inherent part of the Company’s businesses. Global
markets, by their nature, are prone to uncertainty and subject participants to a vatiety of risks. Lehman Brothers has
developed policies and procedures designed to identify, measure and monitor each of the risks involved in its trading,
brokerage and investment banking activities on a global basis. The principal risks of Lehman Brothers are market, credit,
liquidity, legal and operational risks. As part of the Company’s customer flow activities, Lehman Brothers takes
proprietary positions in interest rates, foreign exchange and various securities, derivatives and commodities. Although
the Company secks to mitigate risk associated with such positions through hedging activities, consistent with its
expectations of future events, it is subject to the risk that actual inarket events may differ from the Company’s
expectations, which may result in losses associated with such positions.

Lehman Brothers has developed a control infrastructure to monitor and manage each type of risk on a global basis
throughout the Company. A full description of the Firm’s Risk Management procedures is contained in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis—Risk Management” in the 2002 Annual Report, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Competition

All aspects of the Company’s business are highly competitive. The Company competes in U.S. and international
markets directly with numerous other brokers and dealers in securities and commodities, including traditional and online
securities brokerage firms, investment banking firms, investment advisors and certain commercial banks and, indirectly
for investment fands, with insurance companies and others.

The financial services industry has become considerably more concentrated as numerous securities firms have been
acquired by or merged into other firms. These developments have increased competition from other firms, many of
which have significantly greater equity capital than the Company. Legislative and regulatory changes in the United
States allow commercial banks to enter-businesses previously limited to investment banks, and several combinations
between commercial banks and investment banks have occurred, which has further increased competition.

Regulation

The securities industry in the United States is subject to extensive regulation under both federal and state laws. LBI
is registered as a broker-dealer, and LBI and certain other subsidiaries of Holdings are registered as investment advisors,
with the SEC and as such are subject to regulation by the SEC and by self-regulatory organizations, principally the
NASD, national securities exchanges such as the New York Stock Exchange (which has been designated by the SEC as
LBI’s primary regulator) and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. Securities finms are also subject to regulation
by state securities administrators in those states in which they conduct business. LBI is a tegistered broker-dealer in all
50 states, the District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. The SEC, self-regulatory organizations and
state securities commissions may conduct administrative proceedings, which may result in censure, fine, the issuance of
cease-and-desist orders or suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or an investment advisor, its officers or employees.
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LBl is also registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) as a futures commission
merchant and is subject to regulation as such by the CFTC and various domestic boards of trade and other commodity
exchanges. The Company’s U.S. commodity futures and options business is also regulated by the National Futures
Association, a not-for-profit membership corporation which has been designated as a registered futures association by
the CFTC.

The Company does business in the international fixed income and equity markets and undertakes international
investment banking activities, principally through its regional headquarters in London and Tokyo. Holdings’ subsidiary,
Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“LBIE”™), is an authorized investment firm in the United Kingdom and is a
member of the London, Frankfurt, Paris and Milan exchanges, among others. The UK. Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 (the “FSMA”™) governs all aspects of the United Kingdom investment business, including regulatory capital,
sales and trading practices, use and safekeeping of customer funds and securities, record keeping, margin practices and
procedures, approval standards for individuals, periodic reporting and settlement procedures. Purswant to the FSMA,
certain subsidiaries of Holdings are subject to regulations promulgated and administered by the Financial Services
Authority.

Holdings’ subsidiary, Lehman Brothers Japan Inc. (“LBJ”), is a licensed securities company in Japan and a member
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange Limited, the Osaka Stock Exchange Limited and the Tokyo Financial Futures Exchange
and, as such, is regulated by the Financial Services Agency, the Japan Securities Dealers Association and such
exchanges.

Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB, the Company’s thrift subsidiary, is regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision,
Lehman Brothers Bankhaus A.G. is regulated by the German Federal Banking Authority.

LBI, LBIE, LBJ and Holdings’ other subsidiaries are also subject to regulation by securities, banking and finance
regulatory authorities, securities exchanges and other self-regulatory organizations in numerous other countries in which
they do business.

The Company believes that it is in material compliance with applicable regulations.
Capital Requirements

LBI, Lehman Brothers International (Europe), the Tokyo branch of Lehman Brothers Japan Inc., Lehman Brothers
Bank, FSB, and cthers of Holdings’ subsidiaries are subject to various capital adequacy requirements promulgated by
the regulatory, banking and exchange authorities of the countries in which they operate and/or to capital targets
established by various ratings agencies. Reference is made to Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
in the 2002 Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Employees

As of November 30, 2002, the Company employed approximately 12,300 persons, including 8,000 in North
America and 4,300 internationally. The Company considers its relationship with its employees to be good.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The new 1,000,000 square-foot office tower at 745 Seventh Avenue in New York City, which the Company
purchased in 2001, is now fully operational as the Company’s world headquarters. In September 2002, the Company
sold its 1.1 million square foot tenancy-in-common interest in Three World Financial Center (the location of its
former world headquarters) in downtown Manhattan.

1n addition to tts world headquarters building, the Company leases approximately 437,000 square feet of office
space at 399 Park Avenue and 56,000 square feet of data center space at another location in New York City, each
with a term extending until 2016. Both locations are now fully operational.

The Company also leases approximately 409,000 square feet of office space in Jersey City, New Jersey, with a
term extending until 2016. As of fiscal year end 2002, the Company occupied 153,000 square feet, with the rest
sublet to an unaffiliated third party. The Company expects to occupy the remaining 256,000 square feet by year end
2003, Lehman Brothers leases approximately 400,000 square feet of additional office space in Jersey City, of which
approximately 32,000 square feet have been subleased to a third-party tenant, This lease expires in 2011. The
Company intends to vacate the latter space as it occupies the remaining space in the other Jersey City building and will
seek to sublease the vacated space.

The Company leases and has options to lease a total of approximately 715,000 square feet of space at One
World Financial Center (in the same office complex as Three World Financial Center), which it had occupied or had
planned to occupy prior to September 11, 2001. The lease terms expire at various dates from December 2015 through
2025, with the exception of a lease for 148,000 square feet, which expires in 2006. In April 2002, the Company
entered into a sublease arrangement with an unaffiliated third party for approximately 85,000 square feet of the space
at One World Financial Center, which expires in December 2015. The remainder of the leased space remains
unoccupied, and the Company continues to explore sublease alternatives with respect to this facility.

The Company’s European headquarters in London, England, currently occupy approximately 450,000 square feet
of leased office space in the Broadgate complex. These leases expire at various dates to 2017. Approximately 34,000
square feet have been subleased to an unaffiliated third party. In March 2001, the Company agreed to lease up to
1,000,000 square feet of space in a new tower at the Canary Wharf development, east of the City of London, with a
30-year term. The Company expects to relocate to this facility in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 and is exploring
sublease options for the Broadgate space.

In December 2002 the Company entered into a lease with an initial 2-year term for a new approximately 157,000
square foot Asian headquarters location in the Roppongi Hills area of central Tokyo, Japan, The Company’s current
Asian headquarters occupy approximately 100,000 square feet of leased office space in the ARK Mori Building in
central Tokyo. The ARK Mori lease has been extended to early 2004 to coincide with the Company’s planned
relocation to the Roppongi Hills building.

All three of the Company’s business segments (as described herein and in the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Registrant and its subsidiaries) use the facilities described above (or will use them, in the case of facilities to be
occupied).

Facilities occupied by the Company (or to be occupied as described above) are believed to be adequate for the
purposes for which they are (or are to be) used, and the occupied facilities are well maintained.

Additional information with respect to facilities, certain charges related thereto and lease commitments is set forth

in Notes 2 and 3 and under the caption “Lease Commitments” in Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Staternents in the 2002 Annual Report and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory and arbitration proceedings concerning matters arising
in connection with the conduct of its business. Such proceedings include actions brought against the Company and
others with respect to transactions in which the Company acted as an underwriter or financial advisor, actions arising out
of the Company’s activities as a broker or dealer in securities and commodities and actions brought on behalf of various
classes of claimants against many securities and commodities firms, including the Company.

Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome, the Company generally has denied, or believes it has
a meritorious defense and will deny, liability in all significant cases pending against it including the matters described
below, and it intends to defend vigorously cach such case. Based on information currently available and established
reserves, the Company believes that the eventual outcome of the actions against it, including the matters described
below, will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or cash flows of
the Company but may be material to the Company’s operating results for any particular period, depending on the level of
the Company's income for such period.

Research Analyst Independence Investigations

On December 20, 2002, LBI reached an agreement in principle with the SEC, the New York State Attorney
General’s Office, the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™), the NASD and the North American Securities
Administrators Association (on behalf of state securities regulators) te resolve their investigations of the Company
relating to allegations of research analyst conflicts of interest. Pursuant to the agreement in principle, LBI agreed,
among other things, (i) to pay $50 million in retrospective relief, (ii) to contribute $25 million spread over five years
to provide third-party independent research to clients, (iii) to contribute $5 million towards investor education and
(iv) to adopt internal structural and operational reforms that will further augment the steps it has already taken to
promote research analyst independence. The agreement in principle will become final upen execution of written
agreements acceptable to all of the parties and final judicial approval of the settlement. In the fourth quarter of fiscal
2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge associated with the agreement in principle; for additional information
see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2002 Annual Report, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

AIA Holding S4 et al. v. Lehman Brothers Inc. and Bear Stearns & Co., Inc.

In July 1997, LBI was served with a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York (the “New York District Court™) in which 277 named plaintiffs asserted 24 causes of action against LBI and Bear
Stearns & Co., Inc. The amount of damages was unspecified. The claims arose from the activities of an individual
named Ahmad Daouk, who was employed by an introducing broker which introduced accounts to LBI between 1988
and 1992. Daouk allegedly perpetrated a fraud upon the claimants, who are mostly investors of Middle Eastern origin,
and the complaint alleged that LBI breached various contractual and common law duties owed 1o the investors. In
March 1998, the District Court dismissed without prejudice 18 of the 24 counts pleaded in the complaint. In July 1998,
the plaintiffs served a First Amended Cemplaint containing 18 causes of action against LBI and/or Bear Stearns. Prior
to the date for the trial, in December 2002 all parties agreed to a settlement of all claims,

Actions Regarding Enron Corporation

In April 2002, a Consolidated Complaint for Violation of the Securities Laws was filed in the United States District
Court for the Southem District of Texas (the “Texas District Court™) in In re Enron Corporation Securities Litigation
(the “Enron Litigation™), alleging claims for violation of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the
“Securities Act”), Section 10{b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 {the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, and the Texas Securities Act. The case is brought purportedly on behalf of purchasers of Enron
Corporation’s publicly traded equity and debt securities between Qctober 19, 1998, and November 27, 2001, against
Holdings and eight other commercial or investment banks, 38 current or former Enron officers and directors, Enron’s
accountants, Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersen™) (and affiliated entities and partners) and two law firms. The complaint
seeks unspecified compensatory and injunctive relief based on the theory that defendants engaged or participated in
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maniputative devices to inflate Enron’s reported profits and financial condition, made false or misicading statements and
participated in a scheme or course of business to defraud Enron's shareholders. On December 20, 2002, the Court
granted Holdings’ motion to dismiss as to the Section 10{b)/Rule 10b-5 claim and dismissed that claim as to Holdings.
The other claims against Holdings remain pending.

In May 2002, a complaint was filed in the District Court of Galveston County, Texas, 56th Judicial Circuit, against
LBI and Holdings by American National Insurance Company and certain of its affiliates. The complaint is based on the
allegations in the Enron Litigation and asserts that plaintiffs relied on defendants’ allegedly false and misleading
statements in purchasing and continuing to hold Enron debt and equities in their LBI accounts. The complaint alleges
violations of the Texas State Securities Act, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence and professional malpractice,
and seeks unspecified compensatory relief and punitive damages. LBI and Holdings removed this case to the Texas
District Court, and plaintiffs have filed a motion to remand the case back to state court.

Also in May 2002, a Third Amended Petition was filed in the District Court of Tulsa County, Oklahoma, by
Samson Investment Company alleging that Andersen is liable for plaintiffs’ damages, allegedly incurred in connection
with certain contracts entered into with Enron. Plaintiffs allege that Andersen conspired with Enron to misrepresent
Enron’s financial condition in its financial statements. In December 2002, Andersen filed a Third-Party Petition against
LBI, Holdings and other commercial and investment banks. The Third Party Petition seeks contribution from LBI and
Holdings in the event Andersen is held liable to plaintiffs and alleges that LBI, Holdings and other third-party
defendants were involved in creating and using Enron’s special purpose entities (“SPEs”), engaged in transactions with
the SPEs, misrepresented or failed to disclose to Andersen information about the SPEs and issued analysts’ reports that
enhanced the public’s perception of Enron’s financial performance and condition,

In August 2002, a complaint was filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Civil Divisien, Franklin County, Qhio,
against Holdings, along with four other commercial or investment banks, among other defendants, by the Pubiic
Employees Retirement System of Ohio and three other state employee retirement plans. The complaint alleges that
defendants engaged or participated in manipulative devices to inflate Enron’s reported profits and financial condition,
made false or misleading statements and participated in a scheme or course of business to defraud Enron’s shareholders,
and that plaintiffs relied on defendants’ false and misleading statements in purchasing and continuing to hold Enron debt
and equities in the State’s pension funds. Against Holdings, the complaint alleges claims for common law fraud and
deceit, aiding and abetting common law fraud, conspiracy to commit fraud, negligent misrepresentation and violation of
the Texas Securities Act, and seeks unspecified compensatory relief and punitive damages. This action was removed to
federal court, transferred to the Texas District Court and consolidated with the Enron Litigation.

Also in August 2002, Capital Management, L.P., the former gencral partner of LIM2 Co-Investment, L.P.
("LIM2"), an Enron-related SPE, filed a third-party claim in Delaware Chancery Court alleging that Holdings’
subsidiary LB 1 Group Inc., an investor in LIM2, together with the other LIM2 limited partners breached the Limited
Partnership Agreement by rescinding a capital call. The case has been removed to federal court and a motion has been
made to transfer it to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Dallas, Texas, where the LIM2 bankruptcy is proceeding. A motion
to remand the case back to state court is also pending.

In September 2002, the Washington State Investment Board, which is a named plaintiff in the Enron Litigation,
filed a new purported class acticn i the Texas District Court. This action mirrors the claims in the Enron Litigation, but
alleges a class action period of September 9, 1997, to October 18, 1998. This action is an attempt to expand the class
action period in the Enron Litigation based upon the lengthened statute of limitations in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

In October 2002, two actions were filed in lowa state court (Linn and Polk Counties) against LBI and Holdings,
along with several other commercial or investment banks, by AUSA Life Insurance Co., Principal Global Investors,
LLC, and certain other purchasers of Enron securities. The complaints seek rescission and an unspecified amount of
compensatory and punitive damages. The complaints allege that defendants participated in the alleged Enron fraudulent
scheme by participating in Enron’s debt offerings, making disguised loans to Enron and participating in transactions
involving Enron’s SPEs, which were used to avoid recognizing losses. Plaintiffs allege that through the performance of
these services, defendants gained knowledge of Enron’s inflated values but failed to disclose that information. The
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complaints allege violations of the lowa Securities Act and claims for fraud and deceit and for civil conspiracy. The
Polk County action was removed to federal court but has been remanded to state court. The Linn County action has
been removed to federal court, and plaintiffs have moved to remand it back to state court, while defendants have
requested that the action be transfeired to the Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, where the Enron
bankruptcy is proceeding.

Also in October 2002, a complaint was filed in Superior Court for Los Angeles County against LBI, Holdings, and
other commercial or investment banks by two Oaktree Capital Management investment funds. The complaint alleges
that Enron systematically falsified its financial statements using improper accounting valuations and false hedges that
enabled Enron to boost its reported earnings. Plaintiffs allege that Enron’s bankers, including LBI and Holdings,
participated in the fraudulent scheme by obtaining loan proceeds that Enron falsely characterized as prepaid commodity
trades, falsely concealing the true financial condition of Enron from rating agencies and instituticnal investors and
creating and using note offerings by Enron’s SPEs to generate new cash for Enron. The complaint alleges that
defendants knew and acted on inside information about Enron’s true financial condition in connection with its offerings
of Enron securities, while misrepresenting or omitting material facts to the public. The complaint makes claims under
California state law for trading on inside information, for making false and misleading statements and for unfair
competition by material misstatements or omissions in connection with Enron securities offerings. The complaint seeks
compensatory damages, an accounting, restitution and disgorgement of profits.

In December 2002, a Second Amended Petition was filed against Andersen in the District Court of Washington
County, Texas, 21st Judicial District, by Jane Bullock and other purchasers of Enron securities making claims for
fraud, negligent misrepresentation and civil conspiracy in connection with allegedly materially misleading public
statements concerning Enron’s financial condition. In January 2003, Andersen filed a Third-Party Petition against
LBI, Holdings and other commercial or investment banks. The Third Party Petition seeks assessment of
proportionate liability and contribution from LBI and Holdings and the other third-party defendants. The Third
Party Petition alleges that the third-party defendants were involved in creating, structuring, using and managing
Enron's SPEs, misrepresented or failed to disclose information regarding the SPEs, made public statements about
Enron, financially assisted Enron, assisted Enron in raising money, invested in the SPEs and engaged in transactions
involving Enron's assets.

First Alliance Mortgage Company Matters

During 1999 and the first quarter of 2000, Lehman Cominercial Paper, Inc. (“LCPI”) provided a warehouse line of
credit to First Alliance Mortgage Company (“FAMCO”), and LBI underwrote the securitizations of mortgages
originated by FAMCQ. Prior to 1999, LCPI had provided a $25 million back-up warehouse line to FAMCO for an 18-
month period, and LBI had co-managed four securitizations, one each quarter, both of which engagements ended at the
conclusion of the third quarter of 1997. In March 2000, FAMCO filed for protection from its creditors under Chapter
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. In August 2001, a purported adversary class action (the “Class Action™) was
filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California (the “Bankruptcy Court”™), allegedly on
behalf of a class of FAMCO borrowers seeking equitable subordination of LPCI's (among other creditors’) liens and
claims in the Bankruptcy Court. In October 2001, the complaint was amended to add LBI as a defendant and to add
claims for aiding and abetting alleged fraudulent lending activities by FAMCO and for unfair competition under the
California Business and Professions Code. In August 2002, a Second Amended Complaint was filed, which added a
claim for punitive damages and extended the class period from May 1, 1996, until FAMCO’s bankruptey filing. The
pending complaint seeks actual and punitive damages, the imposition of a constructive trust on all proceeds paid or
being paid by FAMCO to LCPI and LBI, disgorgement of profits, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

In November 2001, the Official Joint Borrowers Committee (the “Committee™) initiated an adversary proceeding,
allegedly on behalf of the FAMCO-related debtors, in the Bankruptcy Court by filing a complaint against LCPI, LBI,
Holdings and several individual officers and directors of FAMCO and its affiliates. As to the Lehman Brothers
defendants, the Committee asserted bankruptcy claims for avoidance of lien, recovery of property, equitable
subordination and disallowance of claim, and also asserted claims for declaratory relief and aiding and abetting breach
of fiduciary duty. In December 2001, the Committee amended its complaint, dropping Holdings as a defendant and
adding claims for equitable indemnification and contribution, which claims have subsequently been dismissed. In
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addition to relief under the Bankruptcy Code, the Committee seeks unspecified compensatory damages.

The United States Court for the Central District of California {the “California District Court™} withdrew the
reference to the Bankruptcy Court in both of these cases and in February 2002 consolidated them before the
California District Court. In November 2002, the California District Court entered an order defining the class in the
Class Action as “all persons who acquired mortgage loans from First Alliance from May 1, 1996 through March 31,
2000, which were used as collateral for First Alliance’s warehouse credit ling with Lehman Commercial Paper [nc.
or were securitized in transactions underwritten by Lehman Brothers Inc.”

In February 2003, the California District Court issued an Order granting Lehman’s motion for summary judgment
on the California Business and Professions Code claims and granting Lehman’s motion for partial summary judgment on
the claims prior to 1999 and dismissing those claims, Trial began on February 18, 2003.

Separately, LBI has had discussions with the Florida Attorney General's office about that office's investigation
of LBI regarding LBI's role in connection with First Alliance.

Actions Regarding Frank Gruttadauria

LBI discovered in January 2002 that Frank Gruttadauria, the former branch manager of LBI’s Cleveland office,
which was acquired in October 2000 from SG Cowen Securities Corporation {*‘SG Cowen’’) as part of the purchase
by LBI of certain accounts and related assets belonging to SG Cowen’s private client group, had apparently been
involved in creating false account statements for clients of that office and may have caused unauthorized transfers of
funds from client accounts. This conduct allegedly took place for a number of years and began well prior to the
acquisition of this office by LBL Under the terms of the purchase agreement, SG Cowen retained liability for
activities arising out of the conduct or operation of the business while owned by SG Cowen,

To date, the following cases have been filed against Lehman Brothers and SG: eight cases in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, six cases in the United States District Court for the Northern District
of Illinois, one case in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, and one case in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin. One of the cases pending in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois has been stayed pending arbitration before the NASD by
agreement of the parties. Six arbitrations have been filed including four before the NYSE, the previously referenced
matter before the NASD, and one additional matter before the NASD. Four of the foregoing matters, the case
pending in United States District Court for the Southern District of California, two of the cases pending in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of {llinois, and one of the cases filed before the NYSE, have been
settled. Generally speaking, the remaining complaints, amended complaints and statements of claim allege violations
of federal securities laws, violations of state and Blue Sky laws, civil conspiracy, and commeon law claims for fraud,
promissory estoppel, negligent and reckless failure to supervise and breach of fiduciary duty. On the whole,
plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages, pre- and post-judgment interest, attomeys' fees and costs, an
accounting, and in some instances, treble damages. Each case still pending in federal court is or will be subject to a
motion to stay pending arbitration based on plaintiffs’ contractual agreement to arbitrate their claims against
defendants, and eight of the federal court matters are currently subject to appeals to the United States Court of
Appeals as a result of the district courts” denial of motions to stay pending arbitration. One of the NYSE arbitrations
is scheduled to go to a hearing in May of 2003, and one of the NASD arbitrations is scheduled to go to a hearing in
July of 2003.

LBl received and responded to requests for information, documents and/or testimony related to the Gruttadauria
matter from the NYSE, the SEC, the Division of Securities of the Department of Commerce of the State of Ohio
(“Ohio Securities Division™) and the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Financial Services, Subcommittee
on Oversight and Investigations. LBI is in discussions with the NYSE, the SEC and the Ohio Securities Division to
resolve any regulatory concerns in this matter.
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IPO Allocation Cases

LBI was named as a defendant in approximately 192 purported securities class actions that were filed between
March and December 2001 in the New York District Court. The actions, which allege improper IPO allocation
practices, have been brought by persons who, either directly or in the aftermarket, purchased IPO securities during
the period between March 1997 and December 2000. The plaintiffs allege that Lehman and cther IPO underwriters
required persons receiving allocations of IPO shares to pay excessive commissions on unrelated trades and to
purchase shares in the aftermarket at specified escalating prices. The plaintiffs, who seek unspecified compensatory
damages, claim that these alleged practices violated various provisions of the federal securities laws, specifically,
sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act, section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and
section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The 192 actions in which LBI was named a defendant have been consolidated
into 83 cases, each involving a distinct offering. Those 83 consolidated cases, and approximately 240 others in which
LBl is not named as a defendant, have been coordinated for pretrial purposes before a single judge.

In Januaty 2002, a separate consolidated class action, entitled In re Initial Public Offering Antitrust Litigation,
was filed against LBI, among other underwriters, alleging violations of federal and state antitrust laws. The
complaint alleges that the underwriter defendants conspired to require customers who wanted IPQ atlocations to pay
back to the underwriters a percentage of their IPO profits in the form of commissions on unrelated trades, to
purchase other, less attractive securities and to buy shares in the aftermarket at predetermined escalating prices.
Originally filed as twelve separate class actions in three different courts, the consolidated antitrust action is now
pending before a single judge—different from the one hearing the securities cases—in the New York District Court.
The antitrust plaintiffs seck unspecified treble damages.

In April 2002, a suit was filed in Delaware Chancery Court by Breakaway Solutions Inc. (“Breakaway™), which
names LBI and two other underwriters as defendants. The complaint purports to be brought on behalf of a class of
issuers who issued securities in initial public offerings (“IPOs™) through at least one of the defendants during the
period of January 1998 through October 2000 and whose securities increased in value 15% or more above the
original price within 30 days after the IPO. It aileges that defendants underpriced IPQ securities and allocated those
underpriced securities to certain favored customers in return for alleged arrangements with the customers for
increased commissions on other transactions and alleged tie-in arrangements. The complaint asserts claims for
breaches of contract, of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and of fiduciary duty, and for
indemnification or contribution and unjust enrichment or restitution. Breakaway seeks, among other relief,
certification of a class, a permanent injunction preventing defendants from engaging in the alleged practices, an
accounting of all defendants’ commissions, profits and compensation in cotmection with the IPOs, declarations
requiring defendants to indemnify Breakaway in the pending consolidated IPO securities class actions and
determining that Breakaway has no indemmification obligation to defendants in those actions, and compensatory
damages.

IPO Fee Litigation

Harold Gillet, et al. v. Goldman Sachs & Co., et al.; Yakov Prager, et al. v. Goldman, Sachs & Co., et al,;
David Holzman, et al. v. Goldman, Sachs & Co., et al. Beginning in November 1998, four purported class actions
were filed in the New York District Court against in excess of 25 underwriters of initial public offering (*‘IPO”")
securities, including LBL Plaintiffs, alleged purchasers of securities issued in certain IPOs, seck compensatory and
injunctive relief for alleged violations of the antitrust laws based on the theory that the defendants fixed and
maintained fees for underwriting certain [PO securities at supra-competitive levels. By memorandum and order in
February 2001 (the “*Order””), the New York District Court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss the Consolidated
Amended Complaint, concluding that the purchaser plaintiffs lacked standing under the antitrust laws to assert the
claims. On appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reversed and remanded the case to the New
York District Court for further proceedings, including potential dismissal of the claims based on additional
arguments raised in the motion to dismiss.

In Re Issuer Plaintiff Initial Public Offering Fee Antitrust Litigation. By order dated April 10, 2001, the New
York District Court consolidated four actions pending before the court brought by bankrupt issuers of IPO securities
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against more than 20 underwriter defendants (including LBI). In July 2001, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated class
action complaint seeking unspecified compensatory damages and injunctive relief for alleged violations of the
antitrust laws based on the theory that the defendant underwriters fixed and maintained fees for underwriting certain
IPO securities at supra-competitive levels. CHS Electronics and MDCM Holdings, two of the four original plaintiffs,
subsequently withdrew their ¢laims.

Island Venture Corporation, et al. v. Lehman Brothers Inc. and Lehman Brothers Securities Asia, Litd.

On February 9, 2001, Island Venture Corporation, Continental Resources Corporation, Recola Investment
Corporation, Grand Concord Corporation and Goodwell Industrial Corporation filed a First Amended Complaint in
the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against EBI and Lehman Brothers Securities Asia, Lid.
In July 2001, plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint. The complaint arises in connection with the plaintiffs’®
purchase of varicus promissory notes issued by Indonesian companies in 1997 and upon which the issuers have
defanlted. It also asserts claims relating to an alleged unauthorized liguidation for $8.5 million of a $10 million Asia
Investment Grade Default Note (‘*Basket Note’') issued by Lehman Brothers Holdings PLC. The complaint secks
rescission and damages under various common law theories of mutual mistake, breach of contract, breach of
fiduciary duty, negligence, negligent misrepresentation and constructive fraud, as well as asserting claims under
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act. The plaintiffs seek to recover damages of approximately $60 million
on all the notes they purchased and the difference between the liquidation price and the face value of the Basket Note
plus lost interest payments.

In re Metricom Securities Litigation

In August 2002, a First Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint for Violation of the Securities Act of
1933 and the Exchange Act of 1934, Corrected Copy, was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California captioned In re Metricom Securities Litigation. The action is brought on behalf of a purported
class of investors who purchased the common stock of Metricom, Inc., during the period from June 21, 1999, to July
2, 2001. Plaintiffs name various officers, directors and selling shareholders of Metricom, along with LBI and the four
other co-managing underwriters of an offering of Metricom common stock on February 3, 2000. Prior to the
commencement of this action, Metricom filed for protection under the federal bankruptey code. The February 2000
offering raised approximately $500 million. Against the underwriters, plaintiffs allege violations of Sections 11 and
12(2) of the Securitics Act and of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. The complaint alleges that the prospectus and
registration statement for the offering failed to disclose material facts concerning, among other things, Metricom’s
flawed business plan and marketing strategy. The complaint seeks class action status, damages and “‘statutory
compensation,” and attorneys’ fees and other costs.

WorldCom Bondholders Litigation

1.BY and other underwriters of WorldCom, Inc., bonds issued in several offerings in each of 1997, 1998, 2000
and 2001 have been named as defendants in certain lawsuits alleging that the offering materials were false and
misleading. LBI underwrote $915 million principal amount of bonds in the 1998 offerings and $375 million
principal amount of bonds in the 2000 offerings. (LBI did not participate in the 1997 and 2001 offerings.) With
respect to LBI, a purported class action was filed in July 2002 in the New York District Court. On October 11,
2002, the complaint was superceded by the filing of a consolidated putative class action complaint in the New York
District Court, entitled In re WorldCom, Inc. Securities Litigation. This action alleges violations by the underwriters
of the federal securities law, including Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act, in connection with May 2000 and
May 2001 bond offerings, and is brought on behalf of purchasers and acquirers of bonds issued in or traceable to
these offerings. In addition to the above purported class action, a number of individual actions have been filed in
connection with some or ail of these WorldCom bond offerings.

A lawsuit was filed in October 2002 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County, by
municipal pension funds that allegedly purchased WorldCom common stock and $383 million principal amount of
WorldCom notes, an unspecificd amount of which are alleged to be traceable to the 2000 public offerings. The
complaint alleges violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act, along with common law claims, against LBI and
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Holdings. Plaintiffs seek, among other things, unspecified compensatory and punitive damages.

A suit was filed in November 2002 in the Washington Superior Court, Kings County, by a state pension fund
that allegedly purchased appreximately $162 million principal amount of WorldCom notes issued in the 1998, 2000
and 2001 public offerings. The complaint alleges violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act by LBI and Holdings.

Plaintiff seeks unspecified compensatory damages, among other things.

Three other lawsuits were filed in November 2002 and January 2003 in the Superior Court of California, Los
Angeles County, by county, municipal and private pension and retirement funds that allegedly purchased,
respectively, approximately $157 million, $102 million and $135 million principal amount of WorldCom notes
issued in the 1998, 2000 and 2001 public offerings and a December 2000 private offering. The complaints allege
violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act by LBI and Holdings. Plaintiffs seek rescission or unspecified
compensatory damages, among other things.

Two suits were filed in December 2002 in the Wisconsin Circuit Court, Dane County, and in the State of
Minnesota District Court, Second Judicial District, by state and municipal pension funds, which allegedly purchased
a total of approximately $133 million and $161 million, respectively, of WorldCom notes issued in the 1998, 2000
and 2001 public offerings. The complaint alleges violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act by LBI and Holdings.
Plaintiffs seek rescission or unspecified compensatory damages, among other things.

A lawsuit was filed in January 2003 in the Chancery Court of Davidson County in Tennessee on behalf of the
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System, which allegedly purchased $60 million principal amount of WorldCom
notes issued in the 1998 and 2000 offerings (as well as $102 million in the 2001 offerings in which Lehman did not
participate). The complaint alleges violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act against LBI and Holdings and
seeks unspecified compensatory damages, among other things.

In addition, actions have been filed in federal court in Mississippi by a bank and trust company and in state
courts in Ohic and Montana by a state or union pension funds; each, insofar as LBI is concerned, allege vielations of
disclosure requirements and assert damages of less than $15 million.

Each of these individual actions, with the exception of the actions filed in January 2003, has been removed to
federal court and each has been, or is expected to be, transferred by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation to
the New York District Court for consolidated pre-trial proceedings with the class action pending in the New York
District Court. A motion to remand these actions to state court is pending.

Most of these actions also name as defendants certain of WorldCom's present or former officers and/or directors

and/or WorldCom's outside accounting firm. On July 21, 2002, WorldCom, Inc. filed for protection under the U.S.
bankruptcy laws.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The approximate number of holders of record of the Registrant’s Common Stock was 22,700 at February 14, 2003,
Information conceming the market for the Registrant’s common equity, dividends and related stockholder matters is set
forth under the captions “Selected Financial Data” and “Other Stockholder Information™ in the 2002 Annual Report, and
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information under the captions “Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—
Certain Factors Affecting Results of Operations™ contained in the 2002 Annual Report and the information under “liem
1—Business—Forward-Looking Statements” in this Report is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is set forth under the
caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis™ in the 2002 Annual Report. Such information is incorporated herein
by reference and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Staternents and the Notes thereto
contained in the 2002 Annual Report,

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Risk Management™ in the 2002
Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and its Subsidiaries together with the Notes thereto and the
Report of Independent Auditors thereon required by this Item are contained in the 2002 Annual Report and are
incorporated herein by reference. Condensed unconsolidated financial information of Holdings and notes thereto are

set forth in Schedule I beginning on Page F-2 of this Report and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEMY9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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PART 11
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information relating to Directors of the Registrant is set forth under the captions “Nominees for Election as Class [1I
Directors to Serve until the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,” “Class I Directors Whose Terims Continue until the
2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders” and “Class II Directors Whose Terms Continue until the 2004 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders™ in the Proxy Statement, and information relating to Executive Officers of the Registrant is set forth
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Company” in the Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to executive compensation is set forth under the captions “Compensation of Directors,”
“Compensation and Benefits Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Compensation of Executive Officers,”
“Pension Benefits” and “Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment and Change in Control Arrangements” in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Information relating to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is set forth under the
captions “Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders™ and “Security QOwnership of Directors and Executive Officers”
in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Information relating to securities of the Registrant
authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is set forth under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan
Information” inn the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information relating to certain relationships and related transactions is set forth under the captions “Certain
Transactions and Agreements with Directors and Executive Officers” and “Certain Transactions and Agreements with
American Express and Subsidiaries” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Holdings (its principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, respectively) have concluded, based on their evaluation as of a date within 90
days prior to the date of the filing of this Report, that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective
to ensure that information required te be disclosed by Holdings in the reports filed or submitted by it under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by Holdings in such reports is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of
Holdings, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to the date of such evaluation.
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PART1V

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(2) 1. Financial Statements:

The Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and the Report of Independent Auditors thereon
incorporated by reference herein and filed as an exhibit hereto are listed on page F-1 hereof by reference to

the corresponding page numbers in the 2002 Annual Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

The financial statement schedule and the notes thereto filed as a part hereof are listed on page F-1 hereof,

3. Exhibits:
Exhibit

No.

i Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registramt dated May 27, 1994 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Transition Report on Form 10-K for the eleven months ended
November 30, 1994)

3.02 Certificate of Designations with respect to the Registrant’s 5.94% Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series C
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 13, 1998)

3.03 Certificate of Designations with respect to the Registrant’s 5.67% Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on July 23, 1998}

3.04 Certificate of Designations with respect to the Registrant’s Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred
Stock, Series E (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Regisirant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
Siled with the SEC on March 30, 2000)

3.05 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, dated April 9,
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for
the quarter ended February 28, 2001)

3.06*  By-Laws of the Registrant, amended as of October 22, 2002

4.01 Standard mukiple series indenture provisions with respect to the senior and subordinated debt securities
(incorporated by reference lo Exhibit 4(a) to Post-Effective Amendment No. I to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form §-3 (Reg. No. 33-16141))

4.02 Indenture with respect to senior debt securities fincorporated by reference to FExhibit 4(b) to
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 1o the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form §.3 (Reg
No. 33-16141))

4.03 First Supplemental Indenture with respect to senior debt securities (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(m) to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Faorm §-3 (Reg. No. 33-25797))

4.04 Second Supplemental Indenture with respect to senior debt securities (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(e) to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-3 (Reg. No. 33-49062))

4.05 Third Supplemental Indenture with respect to senmior debt secutities (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(f) to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-3 (Reg. No. 33-46146))

4.06 Fourth Supplemental Indenture with respect to senior debt securities (ircorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(f) to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-4 filed with the SEC on October 7, 1993)

4.07 Fifth Supplemental Indenture with respect to the senior debt securities (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4k} to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form §-3 (Reg. No. 33-56615))
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4.08

4.09

10.01

10.02 §

10.03 t
10.04

10.05%%
10.06%¢
10.07%4
10.08%F
10.09%%

10.10
10.11

10.12

10.13
10.14
10.15
12.01*

13.01*

21.01*
23.01*
24.01*
99.01*

Sixth Supplemental Indenture with respect to the senior debt securities (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(h) to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form §-3 (No. 333-38227))

The other instruments defining the rights of holders of the long-term debt securities of the Registrant
and its subsidiaries are omitted pursuant to section (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The
Registrant hereby agrees to furnish copies of these instruments to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.

Tax Allocation Agreement between Shearson Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and American Express
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Transition Report on
Form 10-K for the eleven months ended November 30, 1994)

Lehman Brothers Inc. Executive and Select Employees Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (Reg. No. 33-12976))

Lehman Brothers Holdings inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors
({incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-]
{Reg. No. 33-12976))

Amended and Restated Agreements of Limited Partnership of Shearson Lehman Hutton Capital
Partners Il (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrant's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1988)

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994 Management Ownership Plan, as amended through November
19, 2002 (including amendments to Section 5.1)

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1996 Management Ownership Plan, as amended through November
19, 2002 (including amendments to Sections 6(c) and 15)

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. Short-Term Executive Compensation Plan, as amended through
February 19, 2003 (including amendments to Sections 1, 3, 4(c) and 6(h))

Amended and Restated Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. Employee Incentive Plan, as amended through
February 19, 2003 (including amendments to Scctions 4, 6(b), 6(c) and 17 and to Exhibit A)

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc, Cash Award Plan, as amended (including amendments to Sections 1.1,
1.2 and 2.2)

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Lehman Brothers Capital Partners I1I,
L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended November 30, 1993)

Agreement of Limited Partnership of Lehman Brothers Capital Partners [V, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended
November 30, 1997}

A description of the Lehman Brothers Supplemental Retirement Plan is contained under the caption
“Pension Benefits” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of October 19, 2001, between MSDW 7435, LLC, as seller, and
LB 745 LLC, as purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2001)

Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of the October 19, 2001, between MSDW 745,
LLC, as seller, and LB 745 LLC, as purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2001)

JV Option Agreement dated November 19, 1998, between Rock-Forty-Ninth LLC and LB 745 LLC
(as assignee of MSDW 745, LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2001)

Computations in support of ratio of camings to fixed charges and ratio of eamnings to combined fixed
charges and preferred stock dividends

The following portions of the Company’s 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders, which are incorporated
by reference herein: “Management’s Discussion and Analysis,” “Report of Independent Auditors,”
“Consolidated Financial Statements,” “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Selected
Financial Data” on pages 33 - 98; and “Other Stockholder Information” on page 100.

List of the Registrant’s Subsidiaries

Consent of Emst & Young LLP

Powers of Attorney

Staternent of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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99.02* Statement of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*  Filed herewith
t Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangeinent required to be filed as an exhibit to this
Form 10-K pursvant to Itern 14(c)

(b) The following Current Reports on Form 8-K were filed during the Registrant’s 2002 fourth fiscal quarter ended
November 30, 2002:

1. Form 8-K dated September 24, 2002, Items 5 and 7
Financial Statements:

Exhibit 99.2 Consolidated Statement of Income (Three Menths Ended August 31, 2002)
(Preliminary and Unaudited)

Exhibit 99.3 Consolidated Statement of Income (Nine Months Ended August 31, 2002)
(Preliminary and Unaudited)

Exhibit 99.4 Segment Net Revenue Information (Three and Nine Months Ended
August 31, 2002) (Preliminary and Unaudited)

Exhibit 99.5 Selected Statistical Information (Preliminary and Unaudited)
2. Form 8-K dated September 27, 2002, {tem 7.
3. Fomm 8-K dated October 2, 2002, Item 7.
4. Form 8-K dated October 18, 2002, Item 7.

5. Form 8-K dated November 13, 2002, Item 7.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC.
(REGISTRANT)

February 28, 2003 By: /s/ DAVID GOLDFARB
David Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ RICHARD S. FULD, JR. Chief Executive Officer and February 28, 2003
Richard S. Fuld, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors
(principal executive officer)
/s/ DAVID GOLDFARB Chief Financial Officer and February 28, 2003
David Goldfarb Executive Vice President

(principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/ MICHAEL L. AINSLIE Director February 28, 2003
Michael L. Ainslie

/s/ JOHNF. AKERS Director February 28, 2003
John F. Akers
/s/ ROGER 3. BERLIND Director February 28, 2003

Roger S. Berlind

/s/ THOMAS H. CRUIKSHANK. Director February 28, 2003
Thomas H. Cruikshank

/s/ HENRY KAUFMAN Director February 28, 2003
Henry Kaufman
/s/ JOHN D. MACOMBER Director February 28, 2003
John D. Macomber
/s/ DINA MERRILL Director February 28, 2003
Dina Merrill
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I, Richard S. Fuld, Jr., certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant's other centifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date:  February 28, 2003

/8/ RICHARD S. FULD, JR.
Richard S. Fuld, Ir.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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1, David Goldfarb, certify that:

L

2

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annuai report dees not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant's other cettifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a} all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant's internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date:  February 28, 2003

/S/ DAVID GOLDFARB
David Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President
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Revenues

Interest and dividends

LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

Statement of Qperations
(Parent Company Only)

(In milliens)

Principal transactions and Other ... ... vvieeromrinsi e seaeee e e ranas e semssens

Total revenues ...

INTEIESE EXPEIISE ... ceeeeeeeiritrass et es e et et ce s sstn s e b b s bbbt am e et bo st e anace e anbbebea

Net revenues
Equity in net incorne of subsidiaries...

NON-INtErest EXPENSES ...ovuueeerseecmeercorecmceonscacsonens

September 11" related (recoveries)/eXpenses, et .........crerecersneenacens
Other real estate reconfiguration charge

Income before taxes................

Provision/(benefit) for income taxes....

Net income

Net income applicable to conumon stock.

See notes to condensed financial information of Registrant.

Schedule I

Twelve Months Ended November 30,

2002 2001 2000

$2,137  $4,162  $2,667
(34) 404 247
2,103 4,566 2,914
2476 4364 2,813
(373) 202 101
1,229 1,218 1,894
188 29 455
(108) 76 -

2 - -

774 1,315 1,540
(201) 60 (235)

$ 975  $1255  $1,775
$ 906 $1,161  $1,679




LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
Balance Sheet
(Parent Company Only)

(In millions, except for per share data)

Schedule I

November 30,
2002 2001

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents ................ .. 3 1,980 $ 566
Securities and other ﬁnanmal mstruments owned (mcludes $4 218 in 2002 and $7 057 in 200]

Pledged as COLAETAL) c.ccvieiriiiir et ctree et e smrs e rrss s tases s p b b sa s st s neenanres 8,863 11,296
Securities purchased under agreements 10 1eSE11........ccovviimier e erscsnaeeene 9,326 5,899
Equity in net assets 0f SUbSIQIAes ... sre s etessssia s 8,029 7,737
Receivables and accrued interest 1,024 494
DUE fTO1MN SUDSIAIAIIES 1.vveveveiitescisteteseseteetensteete s cesrmesesessessssiresnes st e st ssst s srasss sabssns bt nerabememrnnsemsmesnton 30,566 36,908
OHTET ASSEES - eeeoetvreservatiseeset e omeemms e eeseeesemsemsssesmeesseemeeeseas b beas s ant s e sra st s eeraenesemn e smmermeteenestn 2,934 1,802

TORAL BSSEES 1vvevereeameemeresseseenssaresersrssassrerssresssasssessssses e eess s enss e srsere st s s s srabs s aa e $62,724 __ $64,702

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Commercial paper and short-term debt ... e eres $ 1,567 % 1,858
Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased 416 984
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase ..o eeeeceececonnecacnncnn, 11,111 9,611
Other SECUred FIMANCINE ..c.vveviceect e tcere s emeren e et re e rn s s b e st b s masss s b tsa st b atens s ememsssennsen 1,163 1,200
Accrued liabilities, due to subsidiaries and other payables ... 8,841 11,676
Senior notes... 29,952 29,982
Subordinated mdebtedncss 732 932

TOLAL HADIHEES. c1v-evreereeenereresasseemremsesstanrssseesssessssras sareme st eesseesesesunens et asens s setasens s eantseasanssesrasssie 53,782 56,243

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

PLEfEITEA STOCK c.vereeeirerecr e et cess s eetsss b b e eseremsasss b ssnsns e st anas s aaras s bbbt sabebasabebens 700 700
Common stock, $0.10 par value;

Shares authorized: 600,000,000 in 2002 and 2001;

Shares issued: 258,791,416 in 2002 and 256,178,907 in 2001,

Shares outstanding: 231,131,043 in 2002 and 237,534,091 in 2000 ..c.coerrmmrmemcceerereene 25 25
Additional paid-in capital.... ™ 3,628 3,562
Accumulated other comprehenswc income (net of tax) (13) (10)
REtATNEA BAITUIIES «.ccuecrremce i reervirrerrrarrsassrersres e eresseasseossoas st aanensmsresesaneses sevmssessasnsassensasasses 5,608 4,798
Other stockholders” EQUILY, NEL.....ovvuviverrviieressessssrecaseesseseseasssemecssssamsarsssssessrsss s sassenssssen 949 746
Commeon stock in treasury, at cost: 27,660,373 shares in 2002 and 18,644,816 shares in

2001 .0 eeeoreeeessseeeeseessmsseesesseeeseassesesees st s ess e85 et neR s (1,955) __ (1,362)

Total StOCKNOIAELS” EUUILY crvvemrrresreesirereeaneeeaaeemsssreesssessssesnssssssassssasssssens st ssessseessaesessmenees 8,942 8,459

Total liabilities and stockholders” SQUILY .......oocoereerreersersiemremeeceeee e eseeesseesses s cremssmsenns $62,724 _ $64,702

See notes to condensed financial information of Registrant.
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Schedule I
LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
Statement of Cash Flows
{Parent Company Only)

{In millions)
Twelve Months Ended November 30,

2002 2001 2000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income,, $ 975 $1,255 $1,775
Adjustments to rcoonmle net income to net cash provndcd by (used 1n) ﬂperatlng
activities:
Equity in net income of subsidiaries... {1,229 {1,628 {1,894)
Tax benefit from issuance of stock based awards 347 549 373
Amortization of deferred stock compensation....... 570 544 520
Septemnber 11" related (TECOVETIES) EXPEISES. ....oovvvrvererrersesseseessssssesesesene s eos s (108) 127 -
OtheT AQJUSHTIEIES 1vvovereicrsieessre s ceeessssessassssotssaasbs s st ensssssessnsepsnsabssbssssastasastssantersess 167 103 (104)
Net change in:
Securities and other financial instruments owned... - 3413 (2,998) 278
Accounts receivable and accrued interest, due from substdlanes and other assets . 4,925 (12,627) 2,734
Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased .....o.cvviceerecns (568) 740 24
Accrued liabilities, due to subsidiaries and other payables................. (2,760) 2,677 664
Net cash provided by (used in) operating aCHVILIES.......ouvwreermersessssomssisscsseensrersees 5,732 (11,258) 4,370
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance 0f SENIOT MOTES....curwiieriiireeveeesseessstessessets s besseeeesesnmssssrsesrenesen 5,592 6,794 10,020
Principal payments of senior notes... (6,666) (5,163) {6,629)

Principal repayments of subordmated mdebtedness ....... (200} -
(291) (2,310) 81

Payments for commercial paper and short-term debt, net...
Resale agreements net of repurchase agreements .......... (1,926) 12,95% (8.456)
Payments for repurchase of preferred stock ............. - (100) (88)
Payments for treasury stock purchases, net... (1,303) (1,676) (1,203)
Dividends paid......ccoccvermrermersemsiinssnssnireon et rmer s et (165) (163) (149)
Issuances of common stock under employee award programs ....... 61 54 99
I5UANCEs OF PrEferr SIOCK . c.u.rccueemy vt vecerreneesereeseeesseessspsssastoeereseneseenesmsnessenessems st - - 250
Net cash provided by (used in) financing ACHVItIES ...,.....uuweeressssernrssassensrnsinssssons {4.898) 10,395 (6,075)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received ... 1,085 1,252 634
Purchases of property eqmpment and leasehnld 1mprovemcnts m:t .............................. (424) (103)
Retumn of capital from SubSIAIAIES ..o s s 302 - 244
Capital contributions to subsidiaries (383) (170) (204)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing aCVILES ...........couvvemrrerverenrsroeeneesesenesseenss 580 979 674
Net change in cash and cash eQUIVAIENLS.......cvccrveinen i ssnre s s 1,414 116 (1,031)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of PEHOd ... csererisssisssissssssssssissseacserises 566 450 1,481
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period... ..o $1,980 3 566 3 450

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (in millions)

Interest paid totaled $2,444 in 2002, $3,138 in 2001 and $2,151 in 2000, Income taxes received totaled $233 in 2002, $481 in 2001
and $418 in 2000.

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES IN 2000 {in millions)

Assets assumed from affiliate.......

Liabilities assumed from afﬁhatc
See notes to condensed financial information of Registrant.

$8,185
$8,836
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Schedule I

LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(Parent Company Only)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The condensed financial staterments of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings™) should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company”) and the notes thereto.

Certain prior period amounts reflect reclassifications to conform to the current period’s presentation.
Note 2. September 11 Related (Recoveries)/Expenses, Net

As a result of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attack, Holdings’ leased facilities in the World Trade Center
{(“WTC”) were destroyed and its leased and owned facilities in the World Financial Center (“WFC”) complex
(including the 3 World Financial Center building owned jointly with American Express) were significantly damaged.
All employees and operations in the downtown New York area were displaced. Key business activities and
necessary support functions were quickly relocated to back-up facilities in New Jersey and to various other
temporary sites.

Holdings had insurance in place to cover the losses resulting from the terrorist attack, including a policy
covering damage to the core and shell of the 3 WFC building and a separate policy covering the property damage at
the WTC and WFC facilities, losses resulting from business interruption and extra expenses associated with the
Company’s relocation to, and occupancy of, the temporary facilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, Holdings settled its insurance claim for 3700 million, the policy limit, with its
insurance carriers. This resulted in the recording of a net pre-tax recovery of $108 million ($60 million after-tax) in
the fourth quarter of 2002, The net gain of $108 million in fiscal 2002 included insurance recoveries of
approximately $166 million, costs associated with exiting certain of Holdings’ New York area facilities of $37
million, and $21 million of other costs resulting from the events of September nt (primarily technology restoration
and other costs associated with unusable facilities). Insurance recoveries recorded in 2002 represent Holdings’
settlement of $700 million offset by Holdings’ insurance recoveries previously recognized during 2001 ($120
million), and insurance recoveries allocated to affiliates of Holdings of approximately $240 million during 2001 and
$174 miltion during 2002,

During the fourth quarter of 2001, Holdings purchased a new building in midtown Manhattan located at 745 7°
Avenue and entered into long-term leases in Jersey City, New Jersey and midtown Manhattan, as uncertainties
continued to persist associated with the Company’s ability to utilize its previous downtown headquarters at 3 World
Financial Center. During the fourth quarter of 2002, after further consideration of maintaining real estate in both
downtown and midtown New York City locations, Holdings decided to completely exit its downtown area facilities
and dispose of certain other excess New York City area space acquired as a result of the events of September 1%
resulting in a charge of approximately $37 million.

During 2001, Holdings’ recognized a pre-tax charge of $76 million ($42 miltion after-tax) associated with the
net losses stemming from the events of September 11, 2001. The losses and costs include the write-off of property
damaged, destroyed or abandoned at the Company’s downtown facilities (approximately $127 million),
compensation paid to employees in lien of utilizing external consultants for business recovery efforts and to
employees for the time they were idled (approximately $39 million), and other costs associated with redeployment of
the Company’s workforce to the temporary facilities (approximately $30 million). The losses and costs were offset
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by estimated insurance recoveries of $120 million in 2001. The insurance recovery recorded through November 30,
2001 was limited to the net historical book value of assets believed damaged, destroyed or abandoned and the out-of-
pocket costs for certain extra expenses incurred during the period.

Note 3. Long-Term Debt

U.S. Dollar Non-U.S. Dollar November 30,
Fixed Floating Fixed Floating

{in millions) Rate Rate Rate Rate 2002 2001
Senior Notes
Maturing in Fiscal 2002........ccooeoomecreeene. 3 - b - 8 - 3 - 5 - § 5791
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 ........ccccovovmmmennn. 2,213 2,863 603 510 6,189 5,643
Mataring in Fiscal 2004 ........ccocovricenns 1,579 2,979 1,160 797 6,515 4,365
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 2,137 588 176 941 3,842 3,556
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 3,056 44 545 437 4,082 3,817
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 1,567 177 660 403 2,807 2,126
December 1, 2007 and thereafter ........... 5,928 98 52 439 6,517 4,684

Senior Notes 16,480 6,749 3,196 3,527 29,952 25,982
Subordinated Indebtedness
December 1, 2007 and thereafter............ 732 - - - 732 932
Long-Term Debt..........oo.ooovcavineenn. $17,212 $6,749 $3.196 $3,527 _ $30,684 __ $30,914

Of Holdings’ long-term debt outstanding as of November 30, 2002, $636 million is repayable prior to maturity at
the option of the helder, at par value. These obligations are reflected in the above table at their put dates, which range
from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004, rather than at their contractual maturities, which range from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2022, In
addition, $1,384 million of Holdings long-term debt is redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the Company under
various terms and conditions. These obligations are reflected in the above table at their contractual maturity dates.

As of November 30, 2002, Holdings” U.S. dollar debt portfolio included approximately $682 miilion of debt for
which the interest rates and/or redemption values have been linked to various indices including industry baskets of
stocks or commodities. Generally, such rates are issued as floating rate notes or the interest rates on such index notes are
effectively converted to floating rates based primarily on LIBOR through the use of interest rate and currency swaps.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, Subordinated Indebtedness includes $710 million, which has been classified as
“Preferred Securities subject to Mandatory Redemption” on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition.

End User Derivative Activities

Holdings utilizes interest rate swaps as an end user to modify the interest rate characteristics of its long-term
debt portfolio and certain secured financing activities, Effective 2001, Holdings adopted SFAS No. 133, and as such
all end user derivatives are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet (see Note 1 of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for more information). Holdings adjusted the carrying value of a substantial portion of the fixed
rate debt to a modified mark-to-market value in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as the debt was designated as the
hedged item in a fair value hedge.

At November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, the notional values of Holdings’ interest rate and currency

swaps related to its long-term debt obligations were approximately $37.7 billion and $25.9 billion, respectively. In
terms of notional amounts outstanding, these derivative products mature as follows:
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Fair Value Hedge Other® November 30

U.S. Non-U.S. Cross- U.s. Non-U.S.
{in millions) Dollar Dollar Currency Deollar Dollar 2002 2001
Maturing in Fiscal 2002......... $ - 3 - § - b - ¥ - $ - $ 3313
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 ......... 2,163 602 123 3,577 733 7,198 3,895
Maturing in Fiscal 2004 ......... 1,497 752 549 3,896 932 7,626 4,113
Maturing in Fiscal 2005......... 1,950 151 812 2,450 253 5,616 3,007
Maturing in Fiscal 2006......... 2,834 525 561 1,713 538 6,171 4,100
Maturing in Fiscal 2007........ 1,369 740 524 899 838 4,370 2,476
December 1, 2007 and
therealter. ..o, 5,0 18 36 345 922 421 6,742 5,043
S| SO $14.831 $2,806 __$2.914 513,457 $3.715 __$37,723 $25.947
Weighted-average rate(1)
Receiverate........ceeveeeeenee. 1.11% 4.65% 3.88% 1.97% 3.15% 4.46% 5.93%
Pay rate.......coovvveranninnicenn. 2.43% 3.62% 2.46% 1.69% 3.46% 2.36% 3.03%

(1) Weighted-average interest rates were calculated utilizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates, where applicable.
(2) Other derivatives include basis swaps and hedges of embedded derivatives.

Holdings’ end user derivative activities resulted in the following changes to the mix of fixed and floating rate debt
and effective weighted-average rates of interest:

November 30, 2002
Long-Term Debt Weighted-Average”
Before After Contractual Effective Rate
End User End User Interest After End User
Activities Activities Rate Activities
USD Obligations
Fixed Rate.....cooovmrcmnersrecemnenienaens $17,212 $ 1,213
Floating Rate.............oe.ocrrersrrernenes 6,749 25,732
Total USD 23,961 26,945 5.41% 2.36%
Non-USD Obligations .......c.eeeeee... 6,723 3,739
L1 IO $30,684 $30,684 5.03% 2.45%
November 30, 2001
Long-Term Debt Weighted-Average(”
Before After Contractual Effective Rate
End User End User Interest After End User
Activities Activities Rate Activities
USD Obligations
Fixed Rate......oooovmrercrcereericnnn $17,738 $ 1,158
Floating Rate..........cuurmsvseecececmsnns 6,987 26,950
Total USD 24,725 28,108 5.71% 2.94%
Non-USD Obligations ............c.oov... 6,189 2,806
TOtAl e oeeesreesrens e $30914 $30.914 3.39% 2.96%

M Weighted-average interest rates were calculated utilizing non-US dollar interest rates, where applicable.




Note 4. Securities Pledged as Collateral

Holdings enters into secured borrowing and lending transactions to finance trading inventory positions, obtain
securities for settlement, and meet customers’ needs. Holdings primarily receives collateral in connection with resale
agreements. Holdings is generally permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as collateral and use the
securities to secure repurchase agreements or deliver to counterparties to cover short positions. Holdings carries
secured financing agreements for financial reporting purposes on a net basis when permitted under the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 41 (“FIN 41”). At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of
securities received as collateral and securities owned that have not been sold, repledged or otherwise encumbered
totaled approximately $4.5 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively. At November 30, 2002 and 2002, the gross fair
value of securities received as collateral where Holdings was permitted to sell or repledge the securities was
approximately $11.0 billion and $6.1 billion, respectively. Of this collateral, approximately $8.5 billion and $4.0
billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, has been sold or repledged, generally as collateral under
repurchase agreements or to cover securities and other finaneial instruments sold but not yet purchased.

Holdings also pledges its own assets, principally to collateralize certain financing arrangements, These pledged
securities, where the counterparty has the right, by contract or custem, to rehypothecate the financial instruments are
disclosed as Securities and other financial instruments owned (pledged as collateral), on Holdings’ Balance Sheet as
required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {(SFAS) No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assects and Extinguishinents of Liabilities — a replacement of SFAS No. 125.

In addition, the carrying value of securities and other financial instruments owned that have been pledged to

counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge were approximately $1.0 billion
and $1.7 billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Note 5. Financial Instruments

Securities and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other financial instrutments sold are recorded
at fair value and were comprised of the following:

November 30, November 30,

(in millions) 2002 2001
Mortgages and mortgaged-backed 35,718 ¥ 8355
Derivatives and other coniractual agteements 1,691 1,722
Corporate debt and other 1,456 1.219

Total $8.865 311.296

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

Holdings has guaranteed certain of its subsidiaries unsecured lines of credit and other contractual obligations.

Note 7. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, Holdings engages in various securities trading and financing activities with
many of its subsidiaries (the “Retated Parties”). Various charges, such as compensation and benefits, occupancy,
administration and computer processing are allocated between the Related Parties, based upon specific identification
and other allocation methods.

In addition, Holdings and subsidiaries of Holdings raise money through short- and long-term funding in capital
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markets, which is used to fund the operations of certain of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries. Advances
from Holdings to affiliates were approximately $30.6 billion and $36.9 billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. In addition, Heldings had advances from subsidiaries aggregating $7.5 billion and $10.7 billion at
November 30, 2002 and 2601, respectively.

At November 30, 2002, Holdings had $6.6 billion of securities purchased under agreements to resell and $10.0
billion of securities seld under agreements to repurchase with Related Parties.

Holdings believes that amounts arising through related party transactions, including those allocated expenses
referred to above, are reaseonable and approximate the amounts that would have been recorded if Holdings operated
as an unaffiliated entity.

Dividends and capital distributions declared to Holdings by its subsidiaries and affiliates were $1,085 million in
2002, $1,252 million in 2001 and $878 million in 2000,

Certain covenants contained in various debt agreements may restrict Holdings’ ability to withdraw capital from
its regulated subsidiaries, which in turn could limit its ability to pay dividends to shareholders. At November 30,
2002, approximately $5.4 billion of net assets of subsidiaries were restricted as to the payment of dividends to
Holdings.
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LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION of RATIOS of EARNINGS to FIXED CHARGES and
to COMBINED FIXED CHARGES and PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

(Dollars in millions)

EXHIBIT 12.01

(Unaudited)
For the Twelve Months Ended November 30
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
Pre-tax earnings from continuing Operations ... eeemresssssnsionns $1,052 81631 $2579 $ 1,748 % 1,399
Add: Fixed charges (excluding capitalized Interest).....oevvvverrvreerccmcces 15,813 13,681 18,778 15,724 10,709
Pre-tax earnings before fixed charges 16,865 15,312 21,357 17.472 12,108
Fixed charges:
IREETESL .....vveieicrieetscre e s cns o vn bbb em e em e rmeeeas s e sa s s b e mrm g 15,781 13,649 18,740 15,656 10,626
871 11(C:) T 47 n 57 78 103
Total fIXed CRATEES ......coveeeeesseecsessrorssssemrassssssressesseersaesmersessesstssssasas 15,828 13,720 18,797 15,734 10,729
Preferred stock and trust preferred dividend requirements..................... 124 174 195 192 155
Total combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends ................ $15952 _ $13894  $18992 915926 __$10,884
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES... 1.07 1.12 1.14 1.1 1.13
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS ....oocviivmisiirceerernrresrinrsseersnenes 1.06 110 1.12 1.10 1.11

(a) Other fixed charges consist of the interest factor in rentals and capitalized interest.




EXHIEBIT 99.01

STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
—— THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Richard S. Fuld, Jr., certify that:

1.

Date:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002 (the “Report™) of
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company™), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

February 28, 2003
/S/ RICHARD S. FULD, IR

Richard S. Fuld, Jr,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 99.02

STATEMENT OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
— THESARBANES-OXTEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, David Goldfarb, certify that:

L.

Date:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002 (the “Report”™) of
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company™), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

February 28, 2003

/S/ DAVID GOLDEARB
David Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President




Report of
Independent Auditors

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Lehman Brothers Holdings
Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company™) as of November 30, 2002 and 2001, am_i the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended November 30, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statemerits a.re Ifee of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial staternent presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financtal position of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries at November 30, 2002 and 2001, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the perfod ended

November 30, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

ézwet-f LLP

New York, New York
Janaary 10, 2003




2002 Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement
of Income

2002
Revenues )
Principal transactions : 3 1,951 3 2,779 $ 3713
Investment banking . 1,77 2,000 2,216
- Commissions . 1,286 1091 944
Interest and dividends . ’ 11.728 16,470 19,440
Cther ) 45 52 134
Total revenues 16,781 22,392 26,447
Interest expense . 10,626 15,656 18,740
Net revenues 6,755 6,736 7.707
Non-Interest Expenses
Compensation and benefits 3,139 3.437 391
Technology and communications 552 501 341
Brokerage and clearance 329 308 . 264
Qecupancy ) ) 287 168 135
Business development 146 183 182
Professional fees ' 129 152 184
Other - 74 82 X
September 11th related {recoveries)/expenses, net {108) i27 - -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - -
Regulatery settlernent 80 - -
Tota! non-interest expenses 4,756 4,988 5128
Inceme before taxes and dividends on trust preferred securities 1,389 1,748 2,579
Provision for income taxes 368 437 748
Dividends on trust preferrad securities 56 56 56
Net income ’ 5 975 % 1.255 3 1,775
Net income applicable to common stock $ 906 $ 1161 $ 1,679
Earnings per common share
Basic ' $ 369 5 477 $ 689
Diluted ' 3 347 5 438 $ 6.38

See Notes to Consofidated Financial Statements.
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2002 Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition

2002

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3699 $_ 2.561
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes 2,803 3,289
Securities and other financial instruments owned: {inciutes $22.211 in 2002

and $28.517 in 2001 pledged as collateral) - 119,278 119,362
Collateralized short-term agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 94,341 83.278

Securities borrowed 20,497 17,994
Receivables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing crganizations 3775 3,455

Customers 8,279 12,123

Others 1910 1478
Property. equipment and leasehold improverents

{net of accumulated depreciaticn and amortization of $590 in 2002

and $424 in 2007) 2,075 1,495
Other agsets ) 3468 2613
Excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired (net of accumulated

amortization of $155 in 2002 and $151 in 2007) 213 67

Total assets $ 260,336 $ 241816

See Notes to Censolidated Financial Statements.




2002 Consolidated Financial Stalements

Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition  cntinued

2002 2001
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Commercial paper and short-term debt § 2369 $ 3992
Securities and other financial instruments seld but not yet purchased 69,034 51,330
Collateralized sHort—term financing:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 94,725 102,104

Securities loaned 8,137 12,541

Other secured borrowings 11,844 1,784
Payables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing crganizations 1,787 2.805

Customers 17,477 13,831
Accrued liabilities and other payables 6.633 5,959
Long-term debt:

Senior notes 36,283 35,373

Subcrdinated indebtedness 2,395 2928

Tatal liabilities 250,684 238.647
Commitments and contingencies
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemptior 710 710
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock 700 700
Common stock, $0.10 par value;

Shares authorized: 600,000,000 ir 2002 and 2001;

Shares issued: 258,791,416 in 2002 and 256,178,907 in 2001;

Shares cutstanding: 231,131,043 in 2002 and 237,534,091 in 2001 25 25
Additicnal paid-in capital 3.628 3,562
Accumuiated cther comprehensive income (net of tax) (13) (10)
Retained earnings 5,608 4,798
Other stockhalders™ equity, net 948 746
Comman stock in treasury, at cost: 27,660,373 shares in 2002 and

18,644,816 shares in 2001 (1.955) (1.362}

Tata! stockhelders” equity 8,942 8,459
Totai liabilities and stockhoiders” equity $ 260,336 $ 247,816

See Notes to Consalidated Financial Statements.
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2002 Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

2002
Preferred Stuek.
5% Cumulative Convertible Voting, Series A and B:
Beginning balance $ - 5 - 3 238
- Shares subject to redemption - - (150}
Shares repurchased - - (88)
Ending balance - - -
5.849% Cumulative, Series C:
Beginning and ending balance 250 250 250
5.67% Cumulative, Series D+
Beginning and ending balance 200 200 200
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E:
Beginning balance 250 250 -
Shares issued - - 250
Ending balance 250 250 250
Redeemable Voting:
Beginning and ending balance - - -
Total Preferred Stock, ending balance 700 700 700
Cominon Stock ™ 25 25 25
Additional Paid-In Capital™
Beginning balance 3,562 3,589 3374
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 63 (13) (54)
Employee stock-based awards 53 53 101
Shares issued to RSU Trust (401) (628) 210
Tax benefits from the issuance of stock-based awards 347 549 373
Other, net 4 12 5
Ending balance $ 3.628 $ 3.562 $ 3,589

# Amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect for the two-for-one common stock spiit, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend,
which bacame effective on October 20, 2000.

" See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




2002 Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Stockholders’ EQUItY eontinued

2001

2062
Actumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Beginning balance o 3 (0 § (8) 3 {2)
Transiation adjustment, net® (3) @ {6)
Ending balance (13) o] 8
Retained Earnings
Beginning bafance 4,798 KAk 2.094
Net income 975 1,265 1,775
Dividends declared: - .
5% Cumulative Convertible Vioting Series A and B Preferred Stock - {1 {9
5.94% Cumulative, Series C Preferred Stock {15) (15) (15)
5.67% Curnulative. Series D Preferred Stock {11) (11 11)
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E Preferred Stock (18} (18} 12
Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock (25} (50) (50}
Common Stock (96} (75) (59)
Ending balance 5,608 4,798 3713
Common Stock lssuable
Beginning balance 2,933 2,524 1,768
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock (463) {215) (247}
Deferred stock awards granted 407 624 1.003
Other, net (55) - -
Ending balance 2,822 2,933 2.524
Common Stock Held in RSU Trust
Beginning bafance (827} (647} (7
Shares issued to RSU Trust (297} (403) (231)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 387 223 3
Cther, net 17) - -
Ending balance {754) 827 (647}
Deferred Stock Compensation
Beginning balance (1,360} {1,280) {797
Deferred stock awards granted 407) {624) (1,003)
Amortizatich of deferred compensation, net 570 544 520
Other, net 78 - -
Ending balance (1.119) {1,360) {1,280)
Common Stock In Treasury, at Cost
Beginning balance (1,362) (835) (150}
Treasury stock purchased ,510) (1,678} {1,203}
R5Us exchanged for Common Stock - 5 -
Shares issued for preferred stock conversion - 44 —
Employee stock-based awards 219 89 77
Shares issued to RSU Trust [3e23] 1,031 441
Ending balance (1.955) 1.362) (835)
Total stockholders” equity $ 8942 $ 8459 $ 7,781

“Net of income taxes of ${1} in 2002, $(1) in 2001 and $(8) in 2000.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows

ivelve months ended No

vember 30,

Cash Flows From Operating Activities ) .
Net Income . 3 975 $ 1,255 $ 1775
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities: ’

Depreciation and amortization 258 ) 174 102
Deferred tax provision (Benefit) (870} (643} {169)
Tax berefit from issuance of stock-based awards 347 549 373
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 570 544 520
September 11th (recoveries) expenses o (108) 356 -
Qther real estate reconfiguraticn charge - 128 - -
Regulatory settiement 80 - -
Other adjustments 92 (n 65
Net change in:
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit 486 (855) (445)
Securities and other financial instrurnents owrned 1,708 {13.219) (16,148)
Securities borrowed (2,503) {376) 1,779
Other secured financing 4,060 3,805 3,979
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations (3209 {1,793) 12
Receivables from customers 3,844 [4,538) 1,747
Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased 17,704 16,045 (11,325}
Securities loaned {4,404} 5,299 2,674
Payables 10 brokers, dealers and clearing organizations (1.018) 883 738
Payables 10 customers 3,646 2,194 666
Accrued liabilities and cther payables 277 27 1,262
Other operating assets and labilities, net {693} {325) (1.136)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 24,459 9,327 {13,531}
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes 8.415 9,915 14,225
Principal payments of senior notes {9,014} (7,646} {8.353)
Principal payments of subordinated indebtedness (715) {204) (192)
Net proceeds from (payments for) commercial paper and shart-term debt {1.623) (1.808) 324
Resale agreements net of repurchase agreements {18,442) (8.957) 8.922
Payments for repurchases of preferred stock - (100} {88}
Payments for treasury stock purchases, net (1,303 {1,876} (1.203)
Dividends paid (165) {163) (149}
Issuances of commor stock 61 54 9%
Issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs - - 250
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (22,786} (10,585) 13,835
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, equipment and feasehold improvements, net {656} {1,341) (289}
Proceeds from the sale of 3 World Financial Center, net 152 - -
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (31) - (41)
Net cash used in investing activities (535} (1.341) (330
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,138 {2,599) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,561 5,160 5,186
Cash and cash equivaleris, end of pericd % 3,699 3 2,561 $ 5,160

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (in millicns):
Interest paid totated $10,686 in 2002, $15,588 in 2001 and $18,500 in 2000.
Income taxes paid totaled $436 in 2002, $654 in 2001 and $473 in 2000,

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Holdings”) and sub-

Note 1 -
Summary.of.
_ Significant
Accounting
Policies

sidiaries (collectively, the “Company” or “Lehman Broth-
ers”). Lehman Brothers is one of the leading global

investment banks serving institutional, corporate, govern-
ment and high-net-worth individual clients and customers. The Company's worldwide
headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in London and Tokyo are com-
plemented by offices in additional locations in North America, Europe, the Middle
East, Latin America and the Asia Pacific region. The Company is engaged primarily in
providing financial services. The principal US. subsidiary of Holdings is Lehman
Brothers Inc. ("LBI"), a registered broker-dealer. All material intercompany accounts

and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles which require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial staternents and accom-
panying notes. Management estimates are required to be utilized in determining the
valuation of trading Inventory particularly in the area of OTC derivatives, certain high
yield positions, private equity securities and mortgage loan positions. Additionally,
management estimates are required in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
the outcome of litigation and determining the components of the Septermber 11th
related (recoveries)/expenses, net and the other real estate reconfiguration charge.
Management believes that the estimates utilized in preparing its financial statements

are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates,
The Company uses the trade date basis of accounting.

Certain prior period amounts reflect reclassifications 1o conform to the current year's

presentation.

SECURITIES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Securities and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other financial
instruments sold but not yet purchased are valued at market or fair value, as appropri-
ate, with unrealized gains and lasses reflected in Principal transactions in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Income. Market value is generally based on listed market prices. If
listed market prices are not available, or if liquidating the Company's position is rea-
sonably expected to affect market prices, fair value is determined based on broker
quotes, internal valuation models which take into account time value and volatikity fac-
tors underlying the financial instruments or managemnent’s estimate of the amounts
that could be realized under current market conditions, assuming an orderly liquida-

tion over a reasonable period of time.
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As of Novemnber 30, 2002 and 2001, all firm-owned securities
pledged to counterparties where the counterparty has the right,
by contract or custom, to sell or repledge the securities are clas-
sified as Securities owned (pledged as collateral) as required by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS”™) No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities — a replacement of SFAS
No.125” ("SFAS 1407).

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is typically defined as an instrument whose value is
“derived” from an underlying instrument, index or rate, such as
a future, forward, swap, or option contract, or other financial
instrument with similar characteristics. A derivative contract
generally represents future commitments to exchange interest
payment streams or currencies based on the contract or
notional amount or to purchase or sell other financial instru-

ments at specified terms on a specified date.

Derivatives are recorded at market or fair value in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Financial Condition on a net by counter-
party basis where a legal right of set-off exists and are netted
across products when such provisions are stated in the master
netting agreement. Derivatives are often referred to as off-bal-
ance-sheet instruments since neither their notional amounts
nor the underlying instruments are reflected as assets or liabili-
ties of the Company. Instead, the market or fair value related to
the derivative transactions is reported in the Consclidated
Statement of Financial Condition as an asset or liability in
Derivatives and other contractual agreements, as applicable.
Margin on futures contracts is included in receivables and
payabies from/to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, as
applicable. Changes in fair values of derivatives are recorded as
Principal transactions revenues in the current period. Market or
fair value is generally determined by either quoted market prices
(for exchange-traded futures and options) or pricing models
(for swaps, forwards and options). Pricing models utilize a series
of market inputs to determine the present value of future cash
flows, with adjustments, as required for credit risk and liquidity
risk. Further valuation adjustments may be recorded, as deemed
appropriate for new or cornplex products or for positions with
significant concentrations. These adjustments are integral com-
ponents of the mark-to-market process. Credit-related valua-
tion adjustments incorporate business and economic
conditions, historical experience, concentrations, estimates of
expected losses and the character, quality and performance of

credit sensitive financial instruments,
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As an end-user, the Company primarily utilizes derivatives to
modify the interest rate characteristics of its long-term debt and
secured financing activities. The Company also utilizes equity
derivatives to hedge its exposure 1o equity price risk embedded
in certain of its debt obligations and foreign exchange forwards
to manage the currency exposure related to its net monetary
investment in non-US. dollar functional currency operations

(collectively, “end-user derivative activities”).

Effective December 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No.
133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138, "Accounting for Cer-
tain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities”
(collectively, “SFAS 133"}, which requires that all derivative
instruments be reported on the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Condition at fair value.

Under SFAS 133, the accounting for end-user derivative activi-
ties is dependent upon the nature of the hedging relationship.
In certain hedging relationships, both the derivative and
the hedged item will be marked-to-market through earnings
for ehanges in fair value {“fair value hedge™). In many instances,
the hedge relationship is fully effective so that the mark-to-mar-
ket on the derivative and the hedged item will offset. In other
hedging relationships, the derivative will be marked-to-market
with the offsetting gains or losses recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of Stockholder’s
Equity, until the related hedged item is realized in earnings
(“cash flow hedge”). SFAS 133 also requires certain derivatives
embedded in long-term debt to be bifurcated and marked-to-
market through earnings.

SFAS 133 changed the accounting treatment for the hedged item
in a fair value hedge (e.g., long-term debt or secured financing
activities) from what was an accrual basis to a modified mark-
to-market value. The hedged item’s carrying value may differ
from a full mark-to-market value since SFAS 133 requires that
the hedged itern be adjusted only for changes in fair value
associated with the designated risks being hedged during the
hedge period.

The Company principally utilizes fair value hedges to convert a
substantial portion of the Company's fixed rate debt and certain
long-term secured financing activities to floating interest rates.
Any hedge ineffectiveness in these relationships is recorded as a
component of Interest expense on the Company’s Consolidated

Statemment of Income. Gains or losses from revaluing foreign
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exchange contracts assoclated with hedging the Company's net
investrents in foreign affiliates are reported within Accumulated
other comprehensive income in Stockholder’s Equity. Unrealized
receivables/payables resulting from the mark-to-market on end-
user derivatives are included in Securities and other financial

instruments owned or seld but not yet purchased.

The adoption of SFAS 133, as of December I, 2000, did not have
a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition or the results of operations, as most of the
Company’s derivative transactions are entered into for trading-
related activities for which the adoption of SFAS 133 had no
impact. Prior year amounts have not been restated to conform
with the current SFAS 133 accounting treatment. Therefore,
end-user derjvative activities for all periods prior to December
1, 2000 are recorded on an accrual basis provided that the deriv-
ative was designated and deemed to be a highly effective hedge.
For periods prior to fiscal 2001, realized gains or losses on early
terminations of derivatives that were designated as hedges were
deferred and amortized to interest income or interest expense

over the remaining life of the instrument being hedged.

SECURED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase and Resale Agreements Securities purchased under
agreements to resell and Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase, which are treated as financing transactions for
financial reporting purposes, are collateralized primarily by
government and government agency securities and are carried
net by counterparty, when permitted, at the amounts at which
the securities will be subsequently rescld or repurchased plus
accrued interest. It is the policy of the Company to take posses-
sion of securities purchased under agreements to resell. The
Company monitors the market value of the underlying posi-
tions on a daily basis as cornpared to the related receivable or
payable balances, including accrued interest. The Company
requires counterparties to deposit additional collateral or
return collateral pledged as necessary, to ensure that the market
value of the underlying collateral remains sufficient. Securities
and other financial instruments owned that are financed under
repurchase agreements are carried at market value with
changes in market value reflected in the Consolidated State-

ment of Income.

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps as an end-user 10
modify the interest rate exposure associated with certain fixed
rate resale and repurchase agreements. In accordance with SEAS

No. 133, the Company adjusted the carrying value of these

secured financing transactions that have been designated as the

hedged item.

Securities Borrowed and Loaned Securities borrowed and secu-
rities loaned are carried at the amount of cash collateral
advanced or received plus accrued interest. It is the Company’s
policy to value the securities borrowed and loaned on a daily
basis, and to obtain additional cash as necessary to ensure such

transactions are adequately collateralized.

Other Secured Borrowings Other secured borrowings are

recorded at contractual amounts plus accrued interest.

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS
The Company carries its private equity investments, including
its partnership interests, at fair value based upon the Company's

assessment of each underlying investment.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions
of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“"SFAS 1097).
The Company recognizes the current and deferred tax conse-
quences of all transactions that have been recognized in the

financial statements using the provisions of the enacted tax laws.

In this regard, deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary
differences that will result in deductible amounts in future years
and for tax loss carry-forwards, if in the opinion of manage-
ment, it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will
be realized. SFAS 109 requires companies to set up a valuation
allowance for that component of net deferred tax assets which
does not meet the "more likely than not” criterion for realiza-
tion. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for terporary differ-

ences that will result in taxable income in future years.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-US. dol-
lar functicnal currencies are translated at exchange rates at the
statement of financial condition date, Revenues and expenses
are translated at average exchange rates during the period. The
gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency finan-
cial statements into US. dollars, net of hedging gains or losses
and taxes, are included in Accumulated other comprehensive
income, a separate component of Stockholders' Equity, Gains or
losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included

in the Company’s Consclidated Statement of Income.
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PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPRCVEMENTS
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded
at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amorti-
zation. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives, Buildings are depreciated up to a2 max-
imum of 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the lesser of their economic useful lives or the terms of the
underlying leases, ranging up to 30 years. Equipment, furniture
and fixtures are depreciated over periods of up to 15 years, Inter-
nal use of software which qualifies for capitalization under
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”)
Statement of position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Com-
puter Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” is capi-
talized and subsequently amortized over the estimated useful life
of the software, generally 3 years, with 2 maximum of 7 years.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

In accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impair-
ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Dis-
posed of” the Company reviews assets, such as property,
equipment and leasehold improvements for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circurnstances indicate that the carry-
ing amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If the total of
the expected future undiscounted cash flows is less than the car-
rying amount of the asset, then an impairment loss would be
recognized to the extent that the carrying value of such asset

exceeded its fair value.

GOODWILL

As of December 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations”™ (“SFAS 141"), and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™ {"SFAS 142"). SFAS 141
requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to
be accounted for using the purchase method. Under SFAS 142,
intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are no longer
required to be amortized. Instead, these assets are evaluated annu-
ally for impairment. The Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS 142 at the beginning of fiscal year 2002 and the change did
not have a material impact to the Company's financial position or
its results of operations. Prior to December 1, 2001, the Company
amortized goodwill using the straight-line method over pertods
not exceeding 35 years. Goodwill is reduced upon the recognition

of certain acquired net operating loss carryforward benefits.
STOCK-BASED AWARDS

SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
{“SFAS 1237), established financial accounting and reporting
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standards for stock-based employee compensation plans. SFAS
123 permits companies either to continue accounting for stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value method pre-
seribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ("APB
257} or using the fair value method prescribed by SFAS 123. The
Company continues to follow APB 25 and its related interpreta-
tions in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans.
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized for
stock option awards because the exercise price was at or above
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the

grant date.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For purpases of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
Company defines cash equivalents as highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, other than

those held for sale in the ordinary course of business,

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The Company computes earnings per common share in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share” {“EPS™). Basic
earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to
commuon stockholders by the weighted-average number of com-
mon shares cutstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the
assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. All share and per
share amounts have been restated for the two-for-one common
stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend, which
became effective October 20, 2000. See Notes 9 and 11 of Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

CONSOLIDATION ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Operating Companies The Company follows SFAS No. 94,
"Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries” and con-
solidates operating entities when the Company has a controlling
financial interest over the business activities of such entities.
Non-controlled operating entities are accounted for under the
equity method when the Company is able to exercise significant
influence over the business activities of such entities. The cost
method is applied when the ability to exercise significant influ-

ence is not present.

Special Purpose Entities For those entities which do not meet
the definition of conducting a business, often referred to as spe-
cial purpose entities (“SPEs”), the Company follows the
accounting guidance under SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguish-
ments of Liabilities — a replacement of FASE No. 125 and
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Emerging Issues Task Force {"EITF”) Topic D-14, “Transactions
Involving Special-Purpose Entities,” to determine whether or
not such SPEs are required to be consolidated. The majority of
the Company’s involvermnent with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a qualifying
special purpose entity {"QSPE"). A QSPE can generally be
described as an entity with significantly lirnited powers which
are intended to limit it to passively holding financial assets and
distributing cash flows based upon predetermined criteria.
Based upon the guidance in SFAS 140, the Company does not
consolidate such QSPEs. Rather, the Company accounts for its
involvement with such QSPEs under a financial components
approach in which the Company recognizes only its retained
involvemnent with the QSPE. The Company accounts for such

retained interests at fair value.

Certain special purpose entities do not meet the QSPE criteria
due to their permitted activities not being sufficiently limited, or
because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instru-
ments (e.g., real estate). In the instances in which the Company
is either the sponsor of or transferor of assets to a non-qualify-
ing SPE, the Company follows the accounting guidance pro-
vided by EITF Topic D-14 to determine whether consolidation
is required. Under this guidance, the Company would not con-
solidate such SPE if a third party investor made a substantial
equity investment in the SPE {(minimum of 3%), was subject to
first dollar risk of loss of such SPE, and had a controlling finan-

cial interest,

Transfers of Financial Assets The Company accounts for trans-
fers of financial assets in accordance with SFAS 140. In accor-
dance with this guidance, the Company recognizes the transfer
of financial assets as sales provided that control has been relin-
quished. Control is deemed to be relinquished only when all of
the following conditions have been met; i} the assets have been
isolated from the transferor even in bankruptcy or other
receivership (true sale opinions are required), ii) the transferce
has the right to pledge or exchange the assets received and iii}
the transferor has not maintained effective control over the
transferred assets (e.g., through a unilateral ability to repurchase

a unique or specific asset}.

REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES

Principal Transactions Securities and other financial instru-
ments owned and Securities and other financial instruments sold
but not yet purchased {poth of which are recorded on a trade

date basis) are valued at market or fair value, as appropriate,

with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transac-
tions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Market value is
generally based on listed market prices. If listed market prices
are not available, or if liquidating the Company’s position is rea-
sonably expected to affect market prices, fair value is determined
based on broker quotes, internal valuation pricing models
which take into account time value and volatility factors under-
lying the financial instruments, or managerment’s estimate of the
amounts that could be realized under current market condi-
tions, assuming an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period

of time.

Investment Banking Underwriting revenues and fees for merger
and acquisition advisory services are recognized when services
for the transactions are determined to be completed. Under-
writing expenses are deferred and recognized at the time the

related revenues are recorded.

Commissions Cornmissions primarily include fees from executing
and clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures mar-

kets worldwide. These fees are recognized on a trade date basis.

Interest Revenue/Expense The Company recognizes contractual
interest on Securities and other financial instruments owned
and Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet
purchased on an accrual basis as a component of Interest and
dividends revenues and Interest expense, respectively. Interest
flows on the Company’s derivative transactions are included as
part of the Company’s mark-to-market valuation of these con-
tracts within Principal transactions and are not recognized as a

component of interest revenue/expense,

The Company accounts for its secured financing activities
and short and long-term borrowings on an accrual basis with
related interest recorded as interest revenue or interest expense,

as applicable.
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As a result of the September 11th,
2001 terrorist attack, the Com-

Note 2
September 11th
Related
{Recoveries)/
Expenses, Net

pany’s leased facilities in the World
Trade Center were destroyed and its
leased and owned facilities in the
World Financial Center ("WFC")
complex (including the 3 World Financial Center building
owned jointly with American Express) were significantly dam-
aged. All employees and operations in the downtown New York
area were displaced. Key business activities and necessary sup-
port functions were quickly relocated to the Company's back-up

facilities in New Jersey and to various other temporary sites.

The Company had insurance in place to cover the losses result-
ing from the terrorist attack, including a policy covering damage
to the core and shell of the 3 WFC building and a separate pol-
icy covering the property damage at the WTC and WFC facili-
ties, losses resulting from business interruption and extra
expenses associated with the Company’s relocation to, and

occupancy of, the temporary facilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company settled its
insurance claim for $700 million, the policy limit, with its insur-
ance carriers. This resulted in the recording of a net pre-tax
recovery of $108 million ($60 million after-tax) in the fourth
quarter of 2002.

The net gain of $108 million in fiscal 2002 included insurance
recoveries of approximately $340 rnillion, costs associated with
exiting certain of the Company’s New York area facilities of $189
million, and $43 million of other costs resulting from the events
of September 11th (primarily technology restoration and other
costs associated with unusable facilities). Insurance recoveries
represent the Company’s settlement of $700 million offset by
insurance recoveries previously recognized of approximately
$360 million during 2001,

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company purchased a new
building in midtown Manhattan located at 745 Tth Avenue and
entered into long-term leases in Jersey City, New Jersey and mid-
town Manhattan, as uncertainties contimied to persist associated
with the Company's ability to utilize its previous downtown
headquarters at 3 World Financlal Center. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, after further consideration of maintaining real
estate in both downtown and midtown New York City locations,
the Company decided to completely exit its downtown area facil-

ities and dispose of certain other excess New York City area space
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acquired as a result of the events of September 11th, resulting in
a charge of approximately $189 million. This charge is comprised
of the estimated costs to dispose of facilities at the World Finan-
cial Center, Jersey City, New Jersey and midtown Manhattan.

During 2001, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $127
million ($71 million after-tax)} associated with the net losses
stemiming from the events of September 11, 2001. These losses
and costs included the write-off of property damaged, destroyed
or abandoned at the Company’s downtown facilities (approxi-
mately $340 million), compensation paid to employees in leu of
utilizing external consultants for business recovery efforts and
to employees for the time they were idled (approximately $100
million), costs incurred to maintain the facilities while they were
unusable (approximately $16 million), and other costs associ-
ated with redeployment of the Company's workforce to the
temporary facilities (approximately $31 million). The losses and
costs in 2001 were offset by estimated insurance recoveries of
$360 million. All expenses associated with the Company's use of
temporary facilities during this period have been reflected as
part of Occupancy (approximately $18 million) or Technology
and communications expenses (approximately $4 miltion) in
the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income. The
insurance recovery recorded through November 30, 2001 was
limited to the net historical book value of assets believed dam-
aged, destroyed or abandoned and the out-of-pocket costs for

certain extra expenses incurred during the period.

Note 3

During 2002, the Company recorded

Other Real Estate @ Pre-tax charge of approximately
“ - Reconfiguration ~ $128 million (382 million after-tax)
e Charge for costs associated with reconfigur-

ing certain of its global real estate
facilities utilized by the Company in
conducting its on-going business activities. The charge resulted
from management’s analysis of the Cormpany’s global real estate
needs and subsequent decisions made by management to no

tonger utilize certain facilities in Europe, Asia and the U.S.

Approximately $115 million of the charge relates to estimated
sublease losses associated with the Company's decision to exit its
primary London office facilities at Broadgate and mave its Buro-
pean headquarters to a new facility just outside the city of Lon-
don, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2003. The remaining
portion of the charge relates to the Company’s decision to con-

solidate certain branch locations.
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B
% Note 4

Regulatory
-Settlernert

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the
Company recorded a pre-tax charge
of $80 million ($56 million after-
tax) associated with a proposed

agreement reached with various
Federal and State

authorities to settle inquiries related to alleged conflicts of inter-

regulatory

est involving equity research analysts. This agreement in princi-
pal was signed on December 20, 2002 and included certain
organizational structural reforms, including providing inde-
pendent research to clients in the future, as well as the payment
of $80 million, including $50 million in retrospective relief, $5
million for investor education and $25 million (over the course

of five years) to purchase independent research.

o Note 5 The Company obtains short-term

Short-Jerm financing on both a secured and
«. Financings unsecured hasis. Secured financing

is obtained through the use of
repurchase agreements and securi-
ties loaned agreements, which are
primarily collateralized by government, government agency and
equity securities. The unsecured financing is generally obtained

through short-term debt and the issuance of commercial paper.

The Company’s commercial paper and short-term debt financ-

ing is comprised of the following:

Ndvem_l:er

Iy miflions _ 000 o 2001
Commercial paper $ 1.622 $ 1,986
Short-term debt

Secured bark loans 457 672
Payables to banks 95 502
Other short-term debt® ) 195 832
Commercial paper & short-term debt®  § 2,369 $ 3992

(2} At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the weighted-ay
- termi borrowings, inckiding commercial paper; were 179
. Includes $116 million and $827 million of short-test'd
2002 and 2001, respectively. retated to non-U.S. dollar oblig;

CREDIT FACILITIES

Holdings maintains a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”} with a syndicate of banks. Under the Credit Agree-
ment, the banks have committed to provide up to $1 billion
through April 2005. The Credit Agreemnent contains covenants
that require, among other things, that the Company maintain a
specified level of tangible net worth. The Company views the
Credit Agreernent as one of its many sources of liquidity available
through its funding framework, and as such the Company utilizes

this liquidity for general business purposes from time to time.

The Company also maintains a backstop $750 miltion Comnmit-
ted Securities Repurchase Facility (the “Facility”) for LBIE, the
Company's major operating entity in Europe. The Facility pro-
vides secured multi-currency financing for a broad range of col-
lateral types. Under the terms of the Facility, the bank group has
agreed to provide funding for up to one year on a secured basis.
Any loans outstanding on the commitment tetmination date
may be extended for up to an additional year at the option of
LBIE. The Facility contains covenants which require, among
other things, that LBIE maintain specified levels of tangible net
worth. This commitiment expires at the end of October 2003.

There were no borrowings outstanding under either the Credit
Agreement or the Facility at Novernber 30, 2002. The Company
has maintained compliance with the applicable covenants for
both the Credit Agreement and the Facility at all times.
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5 Note®
. long-Term-
© Debt

Long-Term B

In millions W
November 30 2002 el
Senior Notes )
Maturing in Fiscal 2002 $ - $ - 3 - - 3 - 3 - £ 8051
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 2,213 3,634 786 851 7,484 5,062
Maturing in Fiscat 2004 1,579 3,076 1,245 1,346 7.246 4,706
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 2,142 724 311 1,003 4,180 3822
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 3057 468 628 637 4,73 4,080
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 1,568 294 1,408 935 4,206 2,612
Decernber 1, 2007 and thereafter 5,627 BO1 534 1.614 8,376 6,150
Senior Notes 516,186 $ 87197 5 4914 $ 6.386 § 36,283 $35,373
Subordinated Indebtedness
Maturing in Fiscal 2002 3 - $ $ - 3 - $ - $ 483
Maturing in Fiscat 2003 487 - - 487 475
Maturing in Fiscal 2004 210 234 - - 444 M
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 106 9 - 115 101
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 337 - - 337 300
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 339 - 347 307
December 1, 2007 and thereafter : - BBS - 665 1,07
Suberdinated indebtedness T 2144 234 17 - 2,395 2,928
Long-Term Debt $ 18,330 $ 4,931 $ 38,678 § 38,301

Of the Company's long-term debt cutstanding as of Novemnber
30, 2002, $837 million is repayable prior to maturity at the
option of the holder, at par value. These obligations are reflected
in the above table as maturing at their put dates, which range
from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004, rather than at their contractual
maturities, which range from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2026. In addi-
tion, $720 million of the Company’s long-term debt is
redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the Company
under various terms and conditions. These obligations are

reflected in the above table at their contractual maturity dates.

As of November 30, 2002, the Company’s U.S. dollar and non-
U.S. dollar debt portfolios included approximately $1,416 mil-
lion and $2,972 million, respectively, of debt for which the
interest rates and/or redemption vahues have been linked to the
performance of various indices including industry baskets of
stocks, commaodities or events. Generally, such notes are issued

as floating rate notes or the interest rates on such index notes are
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effectively converted to floating rates based primarily on LIBOR
through the use of interest rate, currency and equity swaps.

END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes a variety of derivative products including
interest rate, currency and equity swaps as an end-user to mod-
ify the interest rate characteristics of its long-term debt portfo-
lio. The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to convert a
substantial portion of the Compary’s fixed rate debt to floating
interest rates to more closely match the terms of assets being
funded and to minimize interest rate risk. In addition, the
Company utilizes cross-currency swaps to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency risk as a result of its non-U.S. dollar debr obli-
gations, after consideration of non-U.S. dollar assets which are
funded with long-term debt obligations in the same currency. In
certain instances, two or more derivative contracts may be uti-
lized by the Company to manage the interest rate nature and/or

currenicy exposure of an individual long-term debt issuance.
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Effective fiscal 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 and as such
all end-user derivatives at November 30, 2001 are recorded at fair
value on the balance sheet (see Note I: Significant Accounting
Policies~Derivative Financial Instruments). The Company
adjusted the carrying value of its hedged fixed rate debt toamod-
ified mark-to-market value in accordance with SFAS 133, as such
debt was designated as the hedged item of a fair value hedge.

At Novernber 30, 2002 and 2001, the noticnal amounts of the
Company's interest rate, currency and equity swaps related to its
long-term debt obligations were approximately $49.1 billion
and $35.1 billion, respectively. In terms of notional amounts
outstanding, these derivative products mature as follows:

2002 Cozm

-4--:D011‘al"

Maturing in Fiscal 2002 $ - % - 0§ - S - 8 . % - 3 468
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 2,638 693 192 4,159 978 8,660 4,580
Maturing in Fiscai 2004 1,688 832 690 4,118 1070 8.398 4,731
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 2,048 282 852 2,690 338 6,210 3.442
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 3135 604 598 1,779 903 7,019 4778
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 1,669 1,459 1.176 1.099 1,999 7.402 3727
Decernber 1, 2007 and thereafter 5,629 495 923 1,704 2,626 11,380 9,135
Total $ 16,807 $ 4,368 $ 4431 $ 15,549 5 7914 $ 49,069 $ 35,077
Weighted-average mterest rate at November 300
Receive rate 7.14% 5.03% 3.65% 2.16% 2.98% 4.39% 5.32%

2.01% 3.56% 2.35% 1.75% 3.44% 2.47% 281%

Pay rate

In addition, the Company’s end-user derivative activities resulted in the following changes to the Company's mix of fixed and floating

rate debt and effective weighted-average rates of interest:

... Long-Term Debt

Wighted-Average ®

Contraciual Effective Rate
+ Ered-User. Interest'..". After End-User
emt Activities . Ratg . Acivities
usD Obligations
Fixed rate $18,330 £ 170
Foating rate 9,031 31,729
Total USD 27,361 31.899 5.25% 2.4%
Nor-1JSD Ohligations 11,317 6,779
Total $38678 $38.678 4.73% 2.29%
o ) " Beforé . Coniiéi:lua_!_ fffec_‘tivef?afe
“Imillfons . End-User L Interest .~ After End-User
il Activities. .- “Rate. 7 Activities -
UsD Obligations
Fixed rate 319,674 3 537
floating rate 9,287 32,702
Tatal USD 28,961 33,239 5.55% 2.79%
Non-USD Obligaticns 9,340 5,062
Total - $3830 $38,301 5.19% 2.89%

- (1) Weighted-average interest rates weré calculated using non-U interest rates, where zpplicable. .
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In March 2002, the Company issued $575 million of floating
rate convertible notes. These notes bear an interest rate equiva-
lent to LIBOR minus 90 basis points per annum (subject to
adjustment in certain events) and mature on Aprit 1, 2022. The
notes are convertible at $96.10 per share (resulting in approxi-
mately 6 million shares), in certain circumstances. These cir-
cumstances include Holdings' common stock trading at or
about $120.125 for a specified number of trading days, as well

as the trading price of the notes declining to certain levels, a sig-
nificant downgrade in the ratings of the notes below a specified
level and other events. Holdings has the option to repurchase
these notes on or after April 1, 2004. The holders of the notes
may cause Holdings to repurchase the notes at par on April 1,
2004, 2007, 2012 or 2017, or upon a change of control of Hold-
ings. In such instances, the Company may elect to redeem these

notes for stock.

Note 7
Preferred
Securities Subject
to Mandatory
Redemption

Preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption are com-

prised of the following issues:

to Maﬁdat'ory R
- In millions . .
30 . C 002 2001
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capitat Trust | $ 326 5 325
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust I 385 385
Total $ 710 $ 710

The following table summarizes the financial structure of each
such trust at November 30, 2002:

Trust Securitfes

Issuance date

Preferred securities issued
Liquidation preference per security
Liguidation value (in mitlions}
Coupon rate

Distributions payable

Distributicns guaranteed by
Mandatory redemption date

" Lohmain Brothers Holdings

Lehman Brothers Heldings Inc.

TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES SUBJECT TO MANDATORY REDEMPTION
During 1999, the Company formed two Delaware business
trusts for the purposes of. (a) issuing trust securities represent-
ing ownership interests in the assets of the trust; (b} investing
the gross proceeds of the trust securities in junior subordinated
debentures of the Company; and {c) engaging in activities nec-
essary or incidental thereto. The Company owns the residual
equity of the trusts and as such these trusts are consclidated.
The loans from the trust to the Company represented by the
junior subordinated debentures are eliminated in consolidation.
To date, the two trusts have issued redeemable equity securities
having an aggregate liquidation value of $710 million. Dividends
on the trust preferred securities are presented on a basis consis-
tent with minority interest in the income of subsidiaries and are
shown as a reduction to the Company’s income from continuing

operations, net of tax in accordance with EITF Issue 86-32.

Lehman Brothers Holdings -

Capital Trust 1 Capital Trust II
lanuary 1999 April 1999
13,000,000 Series | 15,400,000 Series )
$ 25 $ 25
- %325 $ 385

8% 7.875%
Quarterly Quarterly

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

March 31, 2048 June 30, 2048

Redeemable by issuer on or after March 31, 2004 June 30, 2004

_ Junior Subordinated Debentures
Principal amount outstanding {in mifions) $ 325 $ 385
Coupon rate 8% 7.875%
interest payable Quarteriy Quarterly

Maturity date
Redeemable by issuer on or after
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June 30, 2048
June 30, 2004

March 31, 2048
March 31, 2004
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Not.e48 Holdings is authorized to issue a
Preferrad total of 38,000,000 shares of pre-
Stock ferred stock, At November 30, 2002,

LT Holdings had 590,000 shares issued

and outstanding under various

series as described below. All pre-
ferred stock has a dividend preference over Holdings' common
stack in the paying of dividends and a preference in the liquida-

tion of assets.

SERIES C

On May 11, 1998, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depository
Shares, each representing 1/10th of a share of 5.94% Cumula-
tive Preferred Stock, Series C {"Series C Preferred Stock™), $1.00
par value. The shares of Series C Preferred Stock have a
redemption price of $500 per share, together with accrued and
unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the out-
standing shares of Series C Preferred Stock beginning on May
31, 2008. The $250 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2002 is classified on the Company's
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a compo-

nent of Preferred stock.

SERIES D

On July 21, 1998, Holdings issued 4,000,000 Depository Shares,
each representing 1/100th of a share of 5.67% Cumulative Pre-
ferred Stock, Series I (“Series D Preferred Stock”), $1.00 par
value. The shares of Series D Preferred Stock have a redemption
price of $5,000 per share, together with accrued and unpaid
dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding
shares of Series D) Preferred Stock beginning on August 31,
2008, The $200 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2002 is classified on the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a compo-
nent of Preferred stock.

SERIES E

On March 28, 2000, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depository
Shares, each representing 1/100th of a share of Fixed/Adjustable
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E (“Series E Preferred
Stock”}, $1.00 par value. The initial cumulative dividend rate on
the Series E Preferred Stock is 7.115% per annum through May
31, 2005; thereafter the rate will be the higher of either the three-
month US. Treasury Bill rate, the 10-year Treasury constant
rmaturity rate or the 30-year U.S. Treasury constant maturity rate,
in each case plus 1.15%, but in any event not less than 7.615%
nor greater than 13.615%. The shares of Series E Preferred

Stock have a redemption price of $5,000 per share, together with
accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or afl
of the outstanding shares of Series E Preferred Stock beginning
on May 31, 2005. The $250 million redemption value of the
shares outstanding at November 30, 2002 is classified on the
Company's Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a

component of Preferred stock.

REDEEMABLE VOTING

In 1994, Holdings issued the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock
to American Express and Nippon Life for $1,000. The holders of
the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock were entitled to receive
annual dividends through May 31, 2002, in an amount equal to
50% of the amount, if any, by which the Company’s net income
for each fiscal year exceeded $409 million, up to a maximum of
$50 miliion per year ($25 million on a pro-rated bass, for the
last dividend peried, which ran from December 1, 2001 to May
31, 2002). For the years ended November 30, 2002, 2001 and
2000, the Company’s net income resulted in the recognition of
dividends in those years in the amounts of $25 million, $50 mil-
lion and $50 million respectively, on the Redeemable Voting
Preferred Stock. On the final dividend payment date, July 15,
2002, Holdings redeemmed all of the Redeemable Preferred Stock,
for a total of $1,000.
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In October 2000, Lehman Brothers'

Note 9
Board of Directors declared a two-

.. Common
- Stock

for-one common stock split,
effected in the form of a 100% stock
dividend. All share and per share

‘ data presented in this Annwal
Report to Stockholders reflect the effect of the split.

In April 2001, the Company’s shareholders approved the adop-
tion of an amendment of the Company’s Restated Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the aggregate number of authorized

shares of common stock from 200 million to 600 million.

During the years ended November 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the
Company repurchased or acquired shares of its Common Stock
at an aggregate cost of approximately $1,510 million, $1,676
million and $1,203 million, respectively. These shares were
acquired in the open market and from employees who had ten-
dered mature shares to pay for the exercise cost of stock options
or for tax withholding obligations on RSU issuance or option

exercises.

Changes in shares of Holdings’ commeon stock outstanding are

as follows:

In 1997, the Company established an irrevocable grantor trust
(the “RSU Trust”) in order to provide common stock voting
rights to employees who hold outstanding restricted stock units
and to encourage emplovees to think and act like owners. The
RSU Trust was initially funded in 1997 with a total of 32.0 mil-
lion shares consisting of 10.0 million treasury shares for
restricted stock unit (“RSU") awards under the Employee
Incentive Plan and 22.0 million new issue shares of Common
Stock for RSU awards under the 1994 Management Ownership
Pian. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, 9.3 million, 16.0 million and 11.8
million treasury shares, respectively, were transferred into the
RSU Trust. At November 30, 2002, approximately 36.6 million
shares were held in the RSU Trust with a total value of approxi-
mately $754 million. For accounting purposes, these shares are

valued at weighted-average grant prices.

Shares transferred to the RSU Trust do not impact the total
number of shares used in the computation of earnings per com-
mon share because the Company considers the RSUs as com-
mon stock equivalents for purposes of this computation.
Accordingly, the RSU Trust has had no effect on the total equity,

net income or earnings per share of the Company.

2002 .. : 2001 B 2000

Shares outstanding. beginning of pericd 237,534,091 236,395,332 239,825,620
Exercise of stock options and other share issuances 10,455,954 8,369,721 10,015,048
Treasury stock purchases {26,159,002) (23,230,962) {25,245,336)
Issuances of shares 1o the RSU Trust 9,300,000 16.000.000 11,800,000

231,131,043 237,534,001 236,395,332

Shares outstanding, end of period

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
Note 10

) Incentive The Employee Stock Purchase Plan
B Plans (the “ESPP") allows employees to

purchase Common Stock at a 15%
o discount from market value, with a
' maximum of $25,000 in annual
aggregate purchases by any one individual. The number of
shares of Common Stock authorized for purchase by eligible
employees is 12.0 million. As of November 30, 2002 and 2001,
5.8 million shares and 5.5 million shares, respectively, of Com-
mon Stock had cumulatively been purchased by eligible
employees through the ESPP.
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1994 MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP PLAN

The Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994 Management Owner-
ship Plan (the “1994 Plan”) provides for the issuance of
restricted stock units (“RSUs"), performance stock units
(“"PSUs"), stock options and other equity awards for a period of
up to ten years to eligible employees. A total of 33.3 million
shares of Commeon Stock may be granted under the 1994 Plan.
At November 30, 2002, RSU, PSU and stock option awards with
respect to 31.2 miilion shares of Common Stock have been
made under the 1994 Plan of which 1.5 million are outstanding
and 29.7 million have been converted to freely transferable

Common Stock.
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1996 MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP PLAN

During 1996, the Company's stockholders approved the 1996
Management Ownership Plan (the “1996 Plan") under which
awards similar to those of the 1994 Plan may be granted, and
under which up to 42.0 miilion shares of Common Stock may
be subject to awards. At November 30, 2002, RSU, PSU and
stock option awards with respect to 34.8 million shares of Com-
mon Stock have been made under the 1996 Plan of which 19.2
million are outstanding and 15.6 million have been converted to

freely transferable Common Stock.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Employee Incentive Plan (“EIP”) has provisions similar to
the 1994 Plan and the 1996 Plan, and authorization from the
Board of Directors for the issuance of up to 246.0 million shares
of Common Stock which may be subject to awards. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, awards with respect to 186.7 million shares of
Common Stock have been made under the EIP of which 132.2
million are outstanding and 54.5 million have been converted to

freely transferable Common Stock.

The following is a summary of RSUs outstanding under Hold-

ings' stock-based incentive plans:

wal

Balance, November 30, 1999 83,065,780

Granted 22,220,829
Canceled 13,416,523)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions (19,247.545)
Balance, November 30, 2000 82,622,541
Granted 15,292,447
Canceled (3.268,825)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions (18.189,092)
Balance, November 30, 2007 76,457,071
Granted 9,178,667
Canceled (1,750.479)

Exchanged for stock without restrictions (14,547,191)

69,338,068

Balance, November 30, 2002

Eligible employees receive RSUs as a portion of their total corn-
pensation in lieu of cash. There is no further cost to employees
associated with the RSU awards. The Company measures com-
pensation cost for RSUs based on the market value of its Com-
mon Stock at the grant date and amortizes this amount to
expense over the applicable vesting periods. RSU awards made
to employees have various vesting provisions and generally con-

vert to unrestricted freely transferable Common Stock five years

from the grant date. Holdings accrues a dividend equivalent on
each RSU outstanding (in the form of additicnal RSUs), hased
on dividends declared on its Common Stock.

The Company has repurchased approximately 47 million shares
to offset the future delivery requirements associated with
the above RSUs. These shares have either been transferred to
the RSU trust (see Note 9 Commeon Stock) or are held as Trea-
sury stock.

In 2002, the Company delivered 10.9 million shares of its Com-
mon Stock to current and former employees in satisfaction of
RSUs awarded in 1997, Substantially all of the shares delivered
were funded from the RSU Trust. The Company also received
3.4 million shares from current and former employees in satis-
faction of applicable tax withholding requirements. Shares
received were recorded as Treasury stock at an aggregate value of
$207 million.

Of the RSUs autstanding at November 30, 2002, approximately
46.7 million RSUs were amortized, approximately 9.4 million
RSUs will be amortized during fiscal 2003, and the remaining
RSUs will be amortized subsequent to November 30, 2003.

Included in the previous table are PSUs the Company has
awarded to certain senior officers. The number of PSUs which
may be earned is dependent upon the achievement of certain
performance levels within predetermined performance periods.
During the performance period these PSUs are accounted for as
variable awards. At the end of a performance period, any PSUs
earned will convert one-for-one to RSUs which then vest in
three or more years. As of November 30, 2002, approximately
10.4 million PSUs have been awarded to date, subject to vesting
and transfer restrictions. The compensation cost for the RSUs
payable in satisfaction of PSUs is accrued over the combined

performance and vesting periods.

Total compensation cost recognized during 2002, 2001 and 2000
for the Company's stock-based awards was approximately $570
million, $544 million and $520 million, respectively.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, approximately 13.0 million
and 14.8 million stock options, respectively, were exercisable at
weighted-average prices of $29.95 and $25.04, respectively. The
weighted-average remaining contractual life of the stock options
outstanding at November 30, 2002 is 6,52 years. The exercise
price for all stock options awarded has been equal to the market

price of Common Stock on the day of grant.
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Batance, November 30, 1959

44,278,156 6/00-11/09

Granted 25,107,075 - $ 34.80
Exercised 19,476,558} $17.04
Canceled {5,341,634) - $ 24.89
Balance; November 30, 2000 54,567,639 $ 28.62 2/01-11110
Granted 21,629,844 $53.28
. Exercised (6,261,030 $ 16.49
Canceled (1,442,239) 327.01
Balance, November 30, 2007 68,394,214 $37.53 o211
Granted 26,211,500 $54.04
Exercised (9,652.041) $ 25.02
Canceled 1,413,181} %4320
- Balance, November 30, 2002 83,540,492 $44.27 THG3-1112

The disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 require companies
which elect not to record the fair value of stock-based compen-
sation awards in the Consolidated Statement of Income to pro-
vide pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per
share in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents as
if the fair value of stock-based compensation had been
recorded. The Company utilized the Black-Scholes option-pric-
ing model to quantify the pro forma effects on net income and
earnings per common share of the fair value of the stock
options granted and outstanding during 2002, 2001 and 2000.
Based on the results of the model, the weighted-average fair
value of the stock options granted was $19.07, $13.54 and $9.91
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The weighted-average
assumptions which were used for 2002, 200] and 2000 included
risk-free interest rates of 3.26%, 4.16% and 6.27%, an expected
life of 5.3 years, 4.5 years and 3.6 years, and expected volatility
of 35%, 30% and 35%, respectively. In addition, annual divi-
dends of $0.36, $0.28 and $0.22 were used for the 2002, 2001
and 2000 options, respectively.

Under the retroactive alternative to SFAS 123, the Company’s
2002, 2001 and 2000 pro forma net income would have been $830
milliort, $1,183 million and $1,725 million, respectively, com-
pared to actual net income of $975 million, $1,255 million and
$1,775 million, respectively. Pro forma earnings per common
share for 2002, 2001 and 2000 would have been $2.95, $4.20 and
$6.32, respectively, compared to actual earnings per common
share of $3.47, $4.38 and $6.38, respectively. The pro forma
amounts reflect the effects of the Company's stock option grants
and the 15% purchase discount from market value offered to the

Company's employees who participate in the ESPP.

Had the Company elected to expense its stock options in fiscal
2002 under the prospective alternative to SFAS 123, net income
and earnings per share would have decreased by $81 million

and $0.31 per share, respectively.

The following table provides further details relating to
Holdings' stock options outstanding as of November 30, 2002:

: étock Optibns I D i
L Optionis Quistanding - . - . Options Exercisable
' Wiighted: CoaET Weighted-
A : Average

; 0. Weighted-< - Remaining,

C . Number- -  Average " Contractual

i Life {im yeais) ~Exercisable - Exercise Price-  Life (inyears).
$ 9.00-5 9.99 367.880 $ 9.00 1.49 357,880 3 9.00 1.49
$10,00-$19.99 £7.308 $12.88 2.00 27,308 $19.88 200
$20.00-$29.99 15,685,323 $ 2296 3.26 4,955,278 $21.61 2.27
$30.00-$39.99 15,644,540 $ 3367 . 3.68 6,733,809 $33.84 3.27
$40.00-$49.99 13,572,883 3 4787 8.01 588,904 § 48.25 4.43
$50.00-$59.99 28,233,102 $53.76 8.82 28,867 $57.23 6.19
$60.00-$69.99 10,019,456 $63.40 775 339,247 $ 63.40 4.98
83,540,492 $44.27 6.52 13,031,293 $ 2995 2.94

Balance, November 30, 2002
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. Earnings Per
Common Share

Earnings per share was calculated as follows:

In'iiliiors, except for per shiare data - 2002
Numerator:
Net income $ 975 $1.255 $1,775
Preferred stock dividends 59 94 95
Numerator for basic earnings per share—income
available to common stockholders 3 906 $1.161 $1.679
Corwertible preferred stock dividends - - 8
Numerator for diluted earnings per share—income available to cornmon stockholders
{adjusted for assumed conversion of preferred stock) $ 906 $ 1,161 $1.687
Deneminator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share— weighted-average shares 245.4 243.1 243.8
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 12.4 16.2 13.0
Restricted stock units 3.4 6.0 5.0
Preferred shares assumed converted into COmmon - - 2.4
Dilutive potential comman shares 15.8 222 20.4
Denominator for diluted earnings per share— adjusted weighted-average shares 261.2 265.3 264.2
Basic Earnings Per Share 3 369 $ 477 % 689
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 3.47 $ 438 § 6.38

5 ror 2000; Convertible Voting Preferred
dilutive nga per’ share, preferred shares wer
=1 upon i (@pproximately $3.08 on an. annua

The Company operates globally
through a network of subsidiaries,
with several subject to regulatory
requirernents. In the United States,

Note 12
Capital
Requirements

LBI. as & registered broker-dealer,

is subject to the Securities and
Exchange Commission {"SEC”) Rule 15¢3-1, the Net Capital Rule,
which requires LBI to maintain net capital of not less than the
greater of 2% of aggregate debit items arising from customer trans-
actions, as defined, or 4% of funds required to be segregated for
customers’ regulated commodity accounts, as defined. At Novern-
ber 30, 2002, LBI's regulatory net capital, as defined, of $1,485 mil-
lion exceeded the minimurm requirement by $1,357 million.

LBIE, a United Kingdom registered broker-dealer and sub-
sidiary of Holdings, is subject to the capital requirements of the
Financial Services Authority {*FSA") of the United Kingdom.
Financial resources, as defined, must exceed the total financial
resources requirement of the FSA. At November 30, 2002,

LBIE's financial resources of approximately $2,648 million
exceeded the minimum requirement by approximately $861
million. Lehman Brothers Japan Inc.’s Tokyo branch, a regu-
lated broker-dealer, is subject to the capital requirements of the
Financial Services Agency and at November 30, 2002, had nst
capital of approximately $386 million which was approximately
$132 million in excess of the specified levels required. Lehman
Brothers Bank, FSB (the "Bank”), the Company's thrift sub-
sidiary, is regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision
(*OTS"). The Bank exceeds all regulatory capital requirements
and is considered well capitalized by the OTS. Certain other
non-US. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, com-
modities and banking regulations and capital adequacy
requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange
authorities of the countries in which they operate. At Novern-
ber 30, 2002, these other subsidiaries were in compliance with
their applicable local capital adequacy requirements. In addi-
tion, the Company’s "AAA” rated derivatives subsidiaries,
Lehman Brothers Financial Products Inc. (“LBFP") and
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Lehman Brothers Derivative Products Inc. (“LBDP”), have The regulatory rules referred to above, and certain covenants con-
established certain capital and operating restrictions which are tained in various debt agreements, may restrict Holdings’ ability to
reviewed by various rating agencies. At Novemnber 30, 2002, withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries, which in turn
LBFP and LBDP each had capital which exceeded the require- could limit its ability to pay dividends to shareholders. At Novem-
ment of the most stringent rating agency by approximately $60 ber 30, 2002, approximately $5.4 billion of net assets of subsidiaries
million and $35 million, respectively. were restricted as to the payment of dividends to Holdings.

B
" Note 13

© Employee
. Benefit Plans The Company provides various pension plans for the majority of its employees worldwide. In addition,

the Company provides certain other postretirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance, to

eligible employees. The following summarizes these plans:

ployee Benefit Pians. S
- AT " Postretirement Benefits -

Pension Beriefits "~ "
.. November30 ~ - o .. November 30
2002 2001 2002 e 2001
- Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 776 $ 667 $ 53 $ 50
Service cost . 23 15 1 1
Interest cost 54 49 4 3
Plan amendment - 4 - -
Actuarial foss . 72 67 15 3
Benefits paid . 27 (29 (5} {4}
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 19 2 . - -
Prajected Benefit obligation at end of year : $ 917 $ 778 $ 88 $ 53
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ' ' $ 803 3 914
Actual returni on plan assets, net of expenses (100) (88)
Employer contribution 177 2
Benefits paid 27 (24)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 14 M.
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 3 867 $ 803
(Underfunded) funded status . {50} $ 27 $ (68} $ (53)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain} 512 284 (3} {19)
Unrecognized prior service cost (credit) 18 20 () (4)
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 480 $ 331 3 {79) 3 (76)
Weighted-Average Assumptions
Discount rate 6.44% 6.89% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.92% 10.81%

Rate of compensation increase 4.60% 4.82% 5.00% 5.00%

At November 30, 2002 plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation by approximately $21 million.

mponents of Net Periodic .. Postretirement Beneﬁr,{- B

t/ {Benefit) " " Tivelve Months Ended
» : November 30 o
2002 2001 - 2000 °
Service cost . LI 5 1
Interest cost 4 3 4

Expected return on plan assets
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)
Recognized prior service cost

Net periodic cost (benefit)

&2
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For measurement purposes, the annual health care cost trend
rate was assumed to be 12.0% for the year ending November 30,

2003. The rate was assumed to decrease 1.0% per year unti] it

Assumed health care cost trend rates have an effect on the
amount reported for postretirement benefits. A one-percentage-

point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have

reaches 5.0% and remain at that level thereafter. the following effects:

Effect on total service and interest cost compenents in fiscal 2002 $0.4 $(0.1)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation at November 30, 2002 336 ${3.2)

E Note 14
¢ Income
Taxes

The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return reflecting the income of Holdings

and its subsidiaries. The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

2002 L 2001 S 2000
Current

Federal $ 371 34N $ 295
State 208 148 45
Foreign 459 441 577
1,038 1,080 917

Deferred
Federal {462) {406) ma
State {166) (65) (54)
Foreign (42} 72 m
{670} 643} {169)
Provision for income taxes 5 368 $ 437 $ 748

Income before taxes included $406 million, $(50) million and $1,287 million that has also been subject to income taxes of
foreign jurisdictions for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The income tax provision differs from that computed by using the statutory federal income tax rate for the reasons
shown below:

fnmillions - o . [

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 s 2001 R 2000
Federal income taxes at statutory rate . i ) $ 490 $612 $903
State and local taxes . 27 54 (6)
Tax-exempt income (180) {176) {130
Amortization of goodwill - 2 2
Foreign operations - {55 {15
Other, net . 31 - (6)
Provisicn for income taxes 3 368 $ 437 $ 748
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The increase in the Company’s effective tax rate in 2002 from
2001 was primarily due to a less favorable mix of geographic
earnings, which is partially offset by a greater impact of perma-
nent differences, including tax-exempt income, The decrease in
the effective tax rate in 2001 from 2000 was primarily due to a
greater impact of permanent differences due to a decrease in the
level of pre-tax income, an increase in tax-exempt income and a

higher level of income from foreign operations.

Income tax benefits of approximately $347 million, $549 mil-
lion and $373 million were allocated to Additional paid-in cap-
ital related to various employee compensation plans for 2002,
2001 and 2000. In addition, the Company recorded $(1) million,
$(1) million and $(8) million of tax (benefits)/provisions from
the translation of foreign currencies, which was recorded
directly in Accumulated other comprehensive income, for the
fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These benefits will

reduce the amount of current income taxes payable.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001 the deferred tax assets and lia-

bilities consisted of the following:

Deferred T@i

- and Liabilitie
“+ " In millions

The Company permanently reinvested its earnings in certain
foreign subsidiaries. As of November 30, 2002, $178 million of
the Company’s accurnulated earnings were permanently rein-
vested. At current tax rates, additional federal income taxes (net
of available tax credits) of $70 million would become payable if

such income were to be repatriated.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in
the Consolidated Financial Statements. These temporary differ-
ences will result in future income or deductions for income tax
purposes and are measured using the enacted tax rates that will be
in effect when such items are expected to reverse. The Company
provides for deferred income taxes on undistributed earnings of

foreign subsidiaries which are not permanently reinvested.

The net deferred tax assets are included in Other assets in the

accompanying Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

..  November 30 - - 2002 2001
Deferred Tax Assets
Liabilities faceruals not currently deductible $ 698 $ 459
Deferred compensation 898 782
Unrealized trading activity 336 101
Foreign tax credits including carryforwards 284 309
NOL carryforwards 53 148
Other 214 168
$ 2,483 5 1.967
Less: Valuation allowance (25) {18}
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance $ 2,458 $ 1,949
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Excess tax over financial depreciation, net 3 2 5 (119
Pension and retirement costs [128) (96}
Other @ {55)
Total deferred tax liabilities 3 (133 3 (270
Net Deferred Tax Assels $ 2.325 $ 1,679

The Company has approximately $151 million of net operating
loss carryforwards associated with foreign subsidiaries, all of
which have no expiration date. The Company utilized $168
million of foreign tax credit carryforwards during 2002, The
carryforward limitation period for the remaining foreign tax

credits has not begun.

&4

As of November 30, 2002, $18 million of the valuation
allowance relates to temporary differences resulting from the
1988 acquisition of E.F. Hutton Group, Inc. (now known as LB I
Group Inc.) which are subject to separate company limitations.
If future circumstances permit the recognition of the acquired

tax benefit, then goodwill will be reduced.
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Derivatives are financial instru-

Note 15 .
Derivative ments whose value is based upon
Financial an underlying asset (e.g., Treasury

bond), index (e.g. S&P 500) or
reference rate (e.g., LIBOR). Over-
the-counter (“OTC") derivative

Instruments -

products are privately negotiated contractual agreements that
can be tailored to meet individual client needs and include for-
wards, swaps and certain options including caps, collars and
floors. Exchange-traded derivative products are standardized
contracts transacted through regulated exchanges and include

futures and certain option contracts listed on an exchange.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into
derivative transactions both in a trading capacity and as an end-
user. The Company’s derivative activities (both trading and end-
user) are recorded at fair value on the Company's Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition. Acting in a trading capacity,
the Company enters into derivative transactions to satisfy the
needs of its clients and to manage the Company’s own exposure
to market and credit risks resulting from its trading activities
(collectively, “Trading-Related Derivative Activities’}. As an
end-user, the Company primarily enters into interest rate swap
and option contracts to adjust the interest rate nature of its
funding sources from fixed to floating rates, and to change the
index upon which floating interest rates are based {e.g., Prime to
LIBOR) (collectively, “End-User Derivative Activities”). There is
an extensive range of derivative products available in the mar-
ketplace, which can vary from a simple forward foreign
exchange contract to a complex derivative instrument with mul-
tiple risk characteristics involving the aggregation of the risk
characteristics of a number of derivative product types includ-
ing swap products, options and forwards. Listed below are
examples of various derivative product types along with a brief
discussion of the performance mechanics of certain specific

derivative instruments.

SWAP PRODUCTS

Swap products include interest rate and currency swaps, lever-
aged swaps, swap options, other interest rate option products
including caps, collars and floors, and credit default swaps. An
interest rate swap is a negotiated OTC contract in which two par-
ties agree to exchange periodic interest payments for a defined
period, calculated based upon a predetermined notional amount.
Interest payments are usually exchanged on a net basis through-
out the duration of the swap contract. A currency swap is an

OTC agreement to exchange a fixed amount of one currency

for a specified amount of a second currency at the outset and
completion of the swap term. Leveraged swaps involve the mul-
tiplication of the interest rate factor upon which the interest
payment streams are based (e.g., Party A pays three times the
six-month LIBOR). Caps are contractual comnmitments that
require the writer to pay the purchaser the amount by which an
interest reference rate exceeds a defined contractual rate, if any,
at specified times during the contract. Conversely, a floor is a
contractual commitment that requires the writer to pay the
amount by which a defined contractual rate exceeds an interest
reference rate at specified times over the life of the contract, if
any. Equity swaps are contractual agreements whereby one party
agrees to receive the appreciation (or depreciation) value over a
sirike price on an equity investrnent in return for paying
another rate, which is usually based upon equity index move-
ments or interest rates. Commodity swaps are contractual com-
mitments to exchange the fixed price of a commedity for a
floating price (which is usually the prevailing spot price)
throughout the swap term. Credit derivatives are contractual
agreements that provide insurance against a credit event of one
or more referenced credits. The nature of the credit event is
established by the buyer and seller at the inception of the trans-
action, and such events include bankruptcy, insolvency, rating
agency downgrade and failure to meet payment obligations
when due. The buyer of the credit derivative pays a periodic fee
in return for a contingent payment by the seller (insurer) fol-
lowing a credit event. The Company acts as both a buyer and

seller of credit derivatives.

OPTIONS

Option contracts provide the option purchaser (holder) with
the right but not the obligation to buy or sell 2 financial instru-
ment, commodity or eurrency at a predetermined exercise price
(strike price) during a defined period {American Option} or at
a specified date (European Option). The option purchaser pays
a premium to the option seller {writer) for the right to exercise
the option. The option seller is obligated to buy (put) or sell
(cali) the item underlying the contract at a set price, if the
option purchaser chooses to exercise. Option contracts also exist
for various indices and are similar to options on a security or
other instrument except that, rather than physical settling with
delivery of the underlying instrument, they are cash settled. As a
purchaser of an option contract, the Company is subject to
credit risk, since the counterparty is obligated to make payments
under the terms of the option contract, if the Company exer-
cises the option. As the writer of an option contract, the Com-

pany is not subject to credit risk but is subject to market risk,
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since the Company is obligated to make payments under the
terms of the option contract if exercised.

Option contracts may be exchange-traded or OTC. Exchange-
traded options are the obligations of the exchange and generally
have standardized terms and performance mechanics. In con-
trast, all of the terms of an OTC option including the method of
settlement, term, strike price, premium and security are deter-

mined by negotiation of the parties.

FUTURES AND FORWARDS

Futures contracts are exchange-traded contractual commit-
ments to either receive (purchase) or deliver (sell} a standard
amount or value of a financial instrument or commaodity at a
specified future date and price. Maintaining a futures contract
requires the Company to deposit with the exchange an amount
of cash or other specified assets as security for its obligation.
Therefore, the potential for losses from exchange-traded prod-
ucts is limited. As of November 30, 2002 the Company had
approximately $2.2 billion on deposit with futures exchanges
consisting of cash and securities (customer and proprietary).
Additionally, futures exchanges generally require the daily cash
settlement of unrealized gains/losses on open contracts with the
futures exchange. Therefore, futures contracts provide a reduced
funding alternative to purchasing the underlying cash position
in the marketplace. Futures contracts may be settled by physical
delivery of the underlying asset or cash settlement (for index
futures) on the settlement date or by entering into an offsetting
futures contract with the futures exchange prior to the settle-

ment date.

Forwards are OTC contractual commitments to purchase or sell
a specified amount of a financial instrument, foreign currency
or commodity on a future date at a predetermined price. TBAs
are forward contracts which give the purchaser/seller an obliga-
tion to obtain/deliver mortgage securities in the future. There-
fore, TBAs subject the hoider to both interest rate risk and

principal prepayment risk.

TRADING-RELATED DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are subject to various risks similar to other financial
instruments including market, credit and operational risk. In
addition, the Company may be exposed to legal risks related to
its derivative activities including the possibility that a transac-
tion may be unenforceable under applicable law. The risks of
derivatives should not be viewed in isolation, but rather should

be considered on an aggregate basis along with the Cormpany’s
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other trading-related activities. The Company manages the risks
assoctated with derivatives on an aggregate basis along with the
risks associated with its proprietary trading and market-making
activities in cash instruments as part of its firmwide risk man-

agement policies.

Derivatives are generally based upon notional amounts.
Notional amounts are not recorded on-balance sheet, but rather
are utilized solely as a basis for determining future cash flows to
be exchanged. Therefore, notional amounts provide a measure
of the Company's involvement with such instruments, but are

not indicative of actual or potential risk.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had total
notional/contract amounts of trading related derivative activi-
ties of $7,488 billion and $3,384 billion, respectively. Of the total
notional amounts, approximately $7,116 billion and $4,917 bil-
lion are over-the-counter and $372 billion and $477 billion are
exchange-traded as of November 30, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The total weighted-average maturity at November 30,
2002, for over-the-counter and exchange-traded contracts was
4.2 years and {.7 years, respectively. Approximately $2,445 bil-
lien of the notional/contract amount of the Company’s Trad-
ing-Related Derivative Activities mature within the year ending

November 30, 2003,

The Company records its Trading-Related Derivative Activities
on a mark-to-market basis with realized and unrealized gains
and losses recognized currently in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statemnent of Income. Unrealized gains and losses
on derivative contracts are recorded on a net basis in the Con-
solidated Statement of Financial Condition for those transac-
tions with counterparties executed under a legally enforceable
master netting agreement and are netted across products when
such provisions are stated in the master netting agreement. The
Company offers equity, fixed income and foreign exchange
products to its customers. Because of the integrated nature of
the market for such products, each product area trades cash

instruments as well as derivative products.

Listed in the following table Is the fair value of the Company's
Trading-Related Derivative Activities as of November 30, 2002
and 2001.

Assets included in the following table represent the Company's
unrealized gains, net of unrealized losses for situations in

which the Company has a master netting agreement. Similarly,
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Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options

ii.l.l"“‘in;gl:h‘;léf
 November 36; 2001
o Liabil

Fair Value*
November 30, 2002

Assers Liabilities

{inciuding caps, coltars and floors) $ 9,046 $ 7.087 $ 6482 $ 6485
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options B14 1,157 740 1.1
Cther fixed income securifies contracts

(including futures contracts, options and TBAs} 602 215 747 226
Equity contracts {including equity swaps, warrants and options} 3.400 1.667 3.586 2,502

$10.324

liabilities represent net amounts owed to counterparties. The
fair value of assets/liabilities related 1o detivative comniracts at
November 30, 2002 and 2001 represents the Companys net
receivable/payable for derivative financial instruments before
consideration of collateral. Included within the $13,862 million
fair value of assets at Novemnber 30, 2002 was $12,846 million
related to swaps and other OTC contracts and 31,016 million
refated to exchange-traded option and warrant contracts.
Included within the $11,555 million fair valie of assets at
November 30, 2001 was $10,555 million related to swaps and
other OTC contracts and $1,000 million refated to exchange-

traded option and warrant contracts,

$13,862 $10,126 $11.555

exchahée-{faded futures contracts.

Counterparties to the Company’s OTC derivative products are
primarily financial intermediaries (US. and foreign banks),
securities firms, corporations, governments and their agencies,
finance companies, insurance companies, investment compa-
nies and pension funds, Collateral held related to OTC contracts
generally includles cash and U.S. government and federal agency
securities. Presented below is an analysis of the Company’s net
credit exposure at November 30, 2002 for OTC contracts based
upon aciual ratings made by external rating agencies or by
equivalent ratings established and utilized by the Company’s
Credit Risk Management Department.

S&p/ Net Credit

The primary difference in risks between OTC and exchange- Moody's Equivatent Exposure
traded contracts is credit risk. OTC contracts contain credit risk 1 AAAAZE 15%
for unrealized gains from verious counterparties for the dura- 7 AA-iAa3 or higher 30%
i eral. With respect to OT\
tion of the contract, net of collat 5D to C p A-A3 or higher 33%
contracts, including swaps, the Company views its net credit
) 4 BBB-/Baa3 or higher 17%
exposure to third-parties to be $8,223 million at November 30,
, BB-/Ba3 or higher 4%
2002, representing the fair value of the Companys OTC
: X : . : : & B+/B1 or lower 1%
contracts in an unrealized gain position, after consideration
of collateral.
.. Counterparty . -than o .
- RmkRating Sl Years s 1 ) Years - Total
1 6% 3% 15%
2 8% 8% 30%
3 6% 8% 33%
4 3% 5% . 17%
5 - 3% 1% 4%
3 1% - - 1%
Tota! 22% 26% 25% 0%
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The Company is also subject to credit risk related to its
exchange-traded derivative contracts. Exchange-traded con-
tracts, including futures and certain options, are transacted
directly on exchanges. To protect against the potential for a
default, all exchange clearinghouses impose net capital require-
ments for their membership. Additionally, exchange clearing-
houses require counterparties to futures contracts to post
margin upon the origination of the contracts and for any
changes in the market value of the contracts on a daily basis
(certain foreign exchanges provide for settlement within three
days). Therefore, the potential for losses from exchange-traded

products is limited.

END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Cornpany wtilizes a variety of derivative products for non-
trading purposes as an end-user to modify the interest rate char-
acteristics of its long-term debt portfolio and certain secured
financing activities. In this regard, the Company primarily
enters into fair value hedges utilizing interest rate swaps to con-
vert a substantial portion of the Company's fixed rate long-term
debt and certain term fixed rate secured financing activities to a
floating interest rate. The ineffective portion of the fair value
hedges were included in Interest expense on the Consolidated
Statement of Incomne and were not material to the Company's
results for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2002 and 2001.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the notional amounts of the
Company’s end-user derivative activities related to its long-term
debt obligations were approximately $49.1 billion and $35.1 bil-
lion, respectively. (For a further discussion of the Company’s

long-term debt related end-user derivative activities see Note 6.)

The Company also utilizes derivative products as an end-user to
modify its interest rate exposure associated with its secured
financing activities, including Securities purchased under agree-
ments to resell, Securities borrowed, Securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase, Securities loaned and Other secured
borrowings. As with the Company's long-term debt, its secured
financing activities expose the Company to interest rate risk.
The Company, as an end-user, manages the interest rate risk
related to these activities by utilizing derivative financial instru-
ments, including interest rate swaps and purchased options. The
Company designates certain specific derivative transactions
agalnst specific assets and liabilities with matching maturities.
At Novernber 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company, as an end-user,
utilized derivative financial instruments with an aggregate
notional amount of $6.9 billion and $8.8 billion, respectively, to
meodify the interest rate characteristics of its secured financing
activities. The total notional amount of these agreements had
a weighted-average maturity of 5.3 years and 5.1 years as of

November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company is a market leader in

Note 16

Securitizations morigage- and asset-backed securi-

tizations and other structured
financing arrangements. In connec-
o tion with these activities, the Com-

pany utilizes special purpose
entities principally for (but not only limited to) the securitiza-
tion of commercial and residential mortgages, home equity
loans, government and corporate bonds, and lease and trade
receivables. The Company derecognizes financial assets trans-
ferred in securitizations provided that the Company has relin-
quished control over such assets. For further information
regarding the accounting for securitization transactions, refer to
Note 1, Basis of Presentation - Consolidation Accounting Poli-
cies — Transfers of Financial Assets. The Company may retain an
interest in the financial assets it securitizes (“retained interests”),
which may include assets in the form of residual interests in the
special purpose entities established to facilitate the securitiza-

tion. Any retained interests are included in Securities and other
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financial instruments owned (principally Mortgages and mort-
gage-backed) within the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition. During fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Company
securitized approximately $155 billion and $110 billion of
financial assets, including: $108 billion and $50 billion of resi-
dential mortgages, $15 billion and $11 billion of commercial
mortgages and $32 billion and $49 billion of other asset-backed

financial instruments, respectively.

As of November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, the Com-
pany had approximately $1.1 billion and $1.6 billion, respec-
tively, of non-investment grade retained interests from its
securitization activities (principally junior security interests in
securitizations) including $0.5 billion and $1.0 billion of com-
mercial mortgages, $0.4 billion and $0.3 billion of residential
mortgages, and $0.2 billion and $0.3 billion of other asset-
backed financial instruments, respectively. The Company
records its trading assets on a mark-to-market basis, including

those assets held prior to securitization, as well as any retained
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interests post securitization. Mark-to-market gains or losses are
recorded in “Principal transactions” in the Consolidated State-
ment of Income. Fair value is determined based upon market
prices, if available. When market prices are not available, fair
value is determined based on valuation pricing madels which

take into account relevant factors such as discount, credit and

Weighted-average life
Annual prepayment rate

Credit loss assumption
Weighted-average discount rate

At November 30, 2001:"

Weighted-average life

Annual prepayment rate

Credit loss assumption
Weighted-average discount rate

prepayment assumptions, and also considers comparisons to

similar market tratisactions.

The tables below outline the key economic assumptions used in

measuring the fair value of retained interests:

3 years

4 -65CPR
5-6%
17%
Cumnién::a] : : _OLhe;
Mortgages -~ . Asset Backed
4 years 1 year 2 years
6 - 45 CPR G-10CPR 6-12CPR
5 -6% 2-17% 3-10%
20% 8%

19%

The table below cutlines the sensitivity of the fair value of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in the

above assumptions:

A‘l__'Nbvembe.l"éﬂ, 2001 . ‘

At Novernber 30, 2002 .
Residential  Commercial Other Residential - .- Commercial - Other,
Morigages ‘Mortgages  Asset Backed > Mortgages " Mortgages - Asset Backed ™
Prepayment speed:
Impact of 10% adverse change $ 4 $ - 3 1 $ 9 5 - 3 -
Impact of 20% adverse change 3 8 £ - § 2 5 17 5 - 31
Assumed credit losses:
Impact of 10% adverse change 317 3 - $ 12 $ 16 5 - 5 3
Impact of 20% adverse change 3 33 512 $ 32 5 - 3 5
Discount rate:
Impact of 10% adverse change 317 3 - $ 12 326 $ 2 5 2
34 3 - 52 $ 52 $ 5 $ 5

Impact of 20% adverse change $

The sensitivity analysis in the preceding table is hypothetical
and should be used with caution as the above stresses are per-
formed without consideration of the impact of hedges, which
serve to reduce the Company’s actual risk. In addition, these
results are calculated by stressing a particular economic assumnp-
tion independent of changes in any other assumption (as
required by J.S. GAAP}; in reality, changes in one factor often
result in changes in ancther (for example, changes in discount

Lt millions

Purchiases of delinquent loans
Cash flows received on retained interests

rates will often impact expected prepayment speeds). Further,
changes in the fair value based upon a 10% or 20% variation in
an assumption should not be extrapolated because the relation-
ship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value

may not be linear.

The following table surnmarizes cash flows from securitization

trusts for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002:

“Other -

Residential

i Commercial

- Mortgages Mortgages Asset Backed
3 - $ {22) 3 -
$ 240 $ 73 $ 133
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SFAS No. 107 “Disclosures about

Fair Value of Financial Instru-

Note 17 -
Fair Value
of Financiat
Instruments

ments” requires the Company to
report the fair value of financial
instruments, as defined. Assets and
liabilities that are carried at fair
value include all of the Company's trading assets and liabilities
including derivative financial instruments used for trading pur-
poses as described in Note 1, which are recorded as Securities
and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other

financial instruments sold but not yet purchased.

Assets and liabilities, which are recorded at contractual amounts,
that approximate market or fair value include cash and cash
equivalents, cash and securities segregated and on deposit for
regulatory and other purposes, receivables, certain other assets,
cornmercial paper and short-term debt and payables. The market
value of such itemns is not materially sensitive to shifts in market
interest rates because of the limited term to maturity of these

instruments and their variable interest rates.

In 2002 and 2001, the Company's long-term debt was recorded
at historical amounts, unless designated as the hedged item in a
fair value hedge under SFAS 133, The Company carries such
hedged debt on a modified mark-to-market basis, which

amount could differ from fair value.

The following table provides a summary of the fair value of the
Company’s long-term debt and related end-user derivative
activities. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was

estimated using either quoted market prices or discounted cash

flow analyses based on the Company’s current borrowing rates

for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

] : 2002
Carrying value of long-term debt $ 38,678 $ 38307
Fair value of long-term debt $ 38,968 $ 38,458
Unrecognized net (loss)
on long-term debt 3 (2800 3 (157)

The Company carries its secured financing activities, including
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, Securities bor-
rowed, Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, Securities
loaned and Other secured borrowings, at their original contract
amount plus accrued interest. As the majority of such financing
activities are short-term in nature, carrying value approximates
fair value. At Novernber 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
$230 billion and $224 billion, respectively, of such secured financ-
ing activities. As with the Company’s long-term debt, its secured

financing activities expose the Company to interest rate risk.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company, as an end user,
utilized derivative financial instruments with an aggregate
notional amount of $6.9 billion and $8.8 billion, respectively, to
meodify the interest rate characteristics of its secured financing
activities. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the carrying value of
these secured financing activities designated as a fair value hedge
approximated its fair value. Additionally, at November 30, 2002
and 2001, the Company had approximately $30 million and $20
million, respectively, of unrecognized losses related to approxi-
mately $3.9 billion and $8.5 billion, respectively, of long-term
fixed rate repurchase agreernents.

" Note 18
Financial
Instruments

Securities and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other financial instruments sold but

not yet purchased are recorded at fair value and were comprised of the following:

Securities and other financial instruments owned:

November 30, 2002 November 30, 2001

Mortgages and mortgage-backed £ 34431 $ 33210
Governrent and agencies 28,543 26,697
Derivatives and cther contractual agreements 13.862 11,555
Corporate debt and cther 15,620 20,969
Corporate equities 21,252 23,480

. Certificates of deposits and cther meney market instruments 5,570 3.451
$116.278 $ 119,362

- Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased:

Government and agencies 3 40,852 $ 25,547
Derivatives and cther contractual agreements 10.126 10,324
Corporate debt and cther 8,927 6,482
Corporate equities 9,129 8,977

3 69,034 $ 51.330
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. The Company enters into secured
- Note 19 .. pany

Securities borrowing and lending transac-
- Pledged as tions to finance trading inventory
* Collateral positions, obtain securities for set-

tlement and meet customers’ needs.

The Company primarily receives
collateral in connection with resale agreements, securities bor-
rowed transactions, customer margin loans and certain other
loans. The Company is generally permitted to sell or repledge
these securities held as coliateral and use the securities to secure
repurchase agreements, enter into securities lending transac-
tions or deliver to counterparties to cover short positions. The
Company carries secured financing agreements for financial
reporting purposes on a net basis when permitted under the
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpreta-
tion No. 41 (“FIN 417).

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of securities
received as collateral and securities owned that have not been
sold, repledged or otherwise encumbered totaled approximately
$51 billion and $38 billion, respectively. At November 30, 2002
and 2001, the gross fair value of securities received as collateral
where the Company was permitted to sell or repledge the secu-
rities was approximately $345 billion and $245 billion, respec-
tively. Of this collateral, approximately $338 billion and $234
billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, has been
sold or repledged, generally as collateral under repurchase
agreements or to cover securities and other financial instru-

ments sold but not yet purchased.

The Company also pledges its own assets, principally to collat-
eralize certain financing arrangements. These pledged securi-
ties, where the counterparty has the right, by contract or
custom, to rehypothecate the financial instruments are classified
as Securities and other financial instruments owned, (pledged as
collateral), on the Company’s Conselidated Statement of Finan-
cial Condition as required by SFAS 140.

In addition, the carrying value of securities and other financial
instruments owned that have been pledged to counterparties
where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or
repledge were approximately $39 billion and $52 billion at
November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively.

As of Novernber 30, 2002 and 2001,
the Company was contingently
liable for $0.8 billion and $1.1 bil-
lion, respectively, of letters of credit,

Note 20

~Other -~
Commitments
And .

. Contingencies primarily used to provide collateral

' for securities and commodities bor-

rowed and to satisfy margin deposits at option and commodity

exchanges.

In connection with its financing activities, the Company had out-
standing cormmitments under certain lending arrangements of
approximately $1.5 billion and $2.1 billion at November 30, 2002
and 2001, respectively. These commitments require borrowers to
provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreements, when
amounts are drawn under the lending facilities. Advances made
under the above lending arrangements are typically at variable
interest rates and generally provide for over-collateralization
based upon the borrowers’ creditworthiness, At November 30,
2002, the Company had commitments to enter into forward
starting reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agree-
ments, principally secured by government and government
agency collateral, of approximately $89.9 billion and $50.3 billion,
respectively, as compared to $52.3 billion and $26.5 billion,
respectively, at November 30, 2001.

The Company, through its high grade and high yield sales, trad-
ing and underwriting activities, makes commitments to extend
credit in loan syndication transactions. The Company utilizes
various hedging and funding strategies to actively manage its
market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commitments.
In addition, total commitrments are not indicative of actual risk
or funding requirements, as the commitments may not be
drawn or fully utilized. These commitments and any related
draw downs of these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates
and are contingent upon certain representations, warranties and

contractual conditions applicable to the borrower.

The Company had credit risk associated with lending commit-
ments to investment grade borrowers (after consideration of
hedges) of $3.2 billion and $4.1 billion at November 30, 2002 and
Novernber 30, 2001, respectively. In addition, the Company had
credit risk associated with lending commitments to non-invest-
ment grade borrowers (after consideration of hedges) of $1.7 bil-
lion and $! .4 bitlion at November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001,
respectively. Before consideration of hedges, the Company had
comrmitments to investment and non-investment grade borrowers
of $7.1 billion and $1.8 billion as compared to $5.9 billion and $1.4
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billion at November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively.
The Company had available undrawn borrowing facilities with
third parties of approximately $5.2 billion and $4.9 billion at
November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively, which
can be drawn upon to provide funding for these commitments.
These funding facilities contain limits for certain concentrations of
counterparty, industry or credit ratings of the underlying loans.

In addition, the Company provided high yield contingent corn-
mitments related to acquisition financing of approximately $2.8
billion and $0.6 billion at Novernber 30, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The Company's intent is, and its past practice has been, to
sell down significantly all the credit risk associated with these
loans, if closed, through loan syndications consistent with the
Company’s credit facilitation framework. These commitments
are not indicative of the Company’s actual risk as the borrower’s
ability to draw is subject to there being no material adverse
change in either market conditions or the borrower's financial
condition, among other factors. In addition, these cormnmitments
contain certain flexible pricing features in order to adjust for

changing market conditions prior to closing.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had pledged
securities, primarily fixed income, having a market value of
approximately $41.6 billion and $31.8 billion, respectively, as
collateral for securities borrowed having a market value of

approximately $40.6 billion and $31.2 billion, respectively.

Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet
purchased represent obligations of the Company to purchase
the securities at prevailing market prices. Therefore, the future
satisfaction of such obligations may be for an amount greater or
less than the amount recorded. The ultimate gain or loss is
dependent upon the price at which the underlying financial
instrument is purchased to settle the Company’s obligation

under the sale commitment.

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to
credit and market risk as a result of executing, financing and set-
tling various customer security and commodity transactions.
These risks arise from the potential that customers or counter-
parties fail to satisfy their obligations and that the collateral
obtained is insufficient. In such instances, the Company may be
required to purchase or sell financial instruments at unfavorable
market prices. The Company seeks to control these risks by
obtaining margin balances and other collateral in accordance

with regulatory and internal guidelines.
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At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had commit-
ments to invest up to $672 million and $555 million, respec-
tively, directly and through partnerships in private equity related
investments. These commitments will be funded as required
through the end of the respective investment periods, princi-

pally expiring in 2004.

Subsidiaries of the Company, as general partner, are contingently
liable for the obligations of certain public and private limited part-
nerships organized as pooled investment funds or engaged prima-
rily in real estate activities. In the opinlon of the Cornpany,
contingent liabilities, if any, for the obligations of such partnerships
will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consclidated financial position or results of operations.

In the normal course of its business, the Company has heen
named a defendant in a number of lawsuits and other legal pro-
ceedings. After considering all relevant facts, and established
reserves, in the opinion of the Company such litigation will not,
in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Com-
pany’s consolidated financial position or cash flows, but may be
material to the Company’s operating results for any particular

period, depending on the level of income for such period.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

As a leading global investment bank, the Company is actively
involved in securities underwriting, brokerage, distribution and
trading. These and other related services are provided on a
worldwide basis to a large and diversified group of clients and
customers, including multinational corporations, governments,
emerging growth companies, financial institutions and individ-

ual investors.

A substantial portiont of the Company’s securities and com-
modities transactions are collateralized and are executed with,
and on behalf of, commercial banks and other institutional
investors, including other brokers and dealers. The Company's
exposure to credit risk associated with the non-performance of
these customers and counterparties in fulfilling their contrac-
tual obligations pursuant to securities transactions can be
directly impacted by volatile or illiquid trading markets, which
may impair the ability of customers and counterparties to sat-

isfy their obligations to the Company.

Securities and other financial instruments owned by the Com-
pany include U.S. government and agency securities, and secu-

rities issued by non-U.S. governments, which in the aggregate,
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represented 10% of the Company's total assets at November 30,
2002. In addition, collatera] held by the Company for resale
agreements represented approximately 36% of total assets at
November 30, 2002, and primarily consisted of securities issued
by the U.S. government, federal agencies or non-U.S. govern-
ments. The Company’s most significant industry concentration
is financial institutions, which includes other brokers and deal-
ers, commercial banks and institutional clients. This concentra-

tion arises in the normal course of the Company’s business.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company ieases office space and equipment throughout the
world. Total rent expense for 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $148 mil-
fion, $98 million and $47 million, respectively. Certain leases on
office space contain escalation clauses providing for additional

payments based upon maintenance, utility and tax increases.

Minimum future remtal commitments under non-cancelable

operating leases (net of subleases of $74 million) are as follows:

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2004
Fiscal 2005
Fiscal 2006 124
Fiscal 2007 121
December 1, 2007 and therealter 1.272

Included in the above table are rental commitments of approx-
imately $991 million associated with properties that have been
or will be vacated resulting from the Company’s decision to exit
certain of its New York City facilities (resulting from occupancy
actions taken after the events of September 11th}, and the con-
solidation of certain U.S. and foreign branches {See Notes 2 and
3 for additional informaticon regarding September 11th Related
(Recoveries)/Expenses, Net and Other Real Estate Reconfigura-
tion Charge).

The Company has entered into a lease for its new European head-
quarters being constructed at Canary Wharf in London. This
lease qualifies for capital lease treatment under SFAS No. 13
“Accounting for Leases” The Company’s lease at Canary Wharf
expires in September 2033. Occupancy is scheduled to begin late

in 2003. The Company has capitalized approximately $440 mil-
lion in construction in progress as of November 30, 2002.

Fiscal 2003 ) -

Fiscal 2004 -
Fiscal 2005 51
Fiscal 2006 51
Fiscal 2007 51
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 2,315
Total minimum lease payments 2,468
Less: Amounts of these payments

which represent interest 1,605

Present value of future minimum

capital lease payments 5 863

OTHER OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

SPEs are corporations, trusts or partnerships which are estab-
lished for a limited purpose. SPEs by their nature generally do
not provide equity owners with significant voting powers, as
the SPE documents govern all material decisions. The Com-
pany’s primary involvement with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions in which transferred assets, including mortgages,
loans, receivables and other assets, are sold to an SPE and
repackaged into securities (i.e. securitized). SPEs may also be
utilized by the Company to create securities with a unique risk
profile desired by investors, and as a means of intermediating
financial risk. In summary, in the normal course of business,
the Company may establish SPEs; sell assets to SPEs; under-
write, distribute and make a rnarket in securities issued by SPEs;
transact derivatives with SPEs; own securities or residual inter-

ests in SPEs; and provide liquidity or other guarantees for SPEs.

The Company follows the consolidation accounting guidance
under SFAS 140 and EITF Topic D-14 to determine whether or
not an SPE is required to be consolidated. The majority of the
Company's involvernent with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a qualifying
special purpose entity (“QSPE"). A QSPE can generally be
described as an entity with significantly limited powers which
are intended to limit it to passively holding financial assets and
distributing cash flows based upon pre-set terms. Based upon
the puidance in SFAS 140, the Company is not required to and
does not consolidate such QSPEs. Rather the Company

accounts for its involvement with QSPEs under a financial
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components approach in which the Company recognizes only
its retained involvement with the QSPE.

The Company is a market leader in mortgage (both residential
and commercial), municipal and other asset-backed securitiza-
tions which are principally transacted through QSPEs. The Com-
pany securitized approximately $155 billion of financial assets
during fiscal 2002 including $108 billion of residential, $15 billion
of commercial and $32 billion of municipal and other financial
assets. As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
approximately $1.1 billion and $1.6 billion of non-investment
grade retained interests from its securitization activities, respec-
tively. The Company accounts for such retained interests at fair
value with changes in fair value reported in earnings. In addition
to these retained interests, the Company also provides certain lig-
uidity commitments to QSPEs, particularly with respect to its
municipal securitizations. At November 30, 2002, the Company
had liquidity commitments of approximately $4.4 billion related
to trust certificates issued by SPEs, backed by investment grade
municipal securities, as compared to $3.6 billion at November 30,
2001. The Company's obligation under such liquidity commit-
ments is generally less than one year and is further limited by the
fact that the Company’s obligation ceases if the underlying assets
are downgraded below investment grade or default. (For a further
discussion of the Company's securitization activities, see Note 16

Securitizations.)

Certain special purpose entities do not meet the QSPE criteria
due to their permitted activities not being sufficiently limited, or
because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instru-
ments (e.g. real estate). In instances in which the Company is
either the sponsor of or transferor to a non-gualifying SPE, the
Company follows the accounting guidance provided by EITF
Topic D-14 to determine whether consolidation is reguired.
Under this guidance, the Company would not be required to,
and does not consolidate such SPE if a third party investor made
a substantive equity investment in the SPE (minimum of 3%),
was subject to first dollar risk of loss of such SPE, and had a con-
trolling financial interest. The Company's principal involvement
with non-QSPEs relates to CDOs, synthetic credit transactions
and other structured financing transactions to facilitate cus-

tomers’ investment and/or funding needs.

With respect to CDO transactions, in which a diversified port-
folio of securities and/or loans are owned by a SPE and man-
aged by an independent asset manager, the Company’s role is

principally limited to acting as structuring and placement agent,
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warehouse provider, underwriter and market maker in the
related CDO securities. In a typical CDO, at the direction of the
asset manager, the Company will warehouse securities and/or
loans on its balance sheet pending the transfer to the SPE once
capital markets permanent financing is completed. During
2002, the Company acted as structuring and placement agent
for approximately $3.1 billion of CDO transactions. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, the Company did not have any significant contin-
uing involvement in the CDOs arranged by the Company other

than acting as market maker.

The Company is a dealer in credit default swaps and, as such,
rakes a market in buying and selling credit protection on single
issuers as well as on portfolios of credit exposures. One of the
financial instruments used by the Company to mitigate credit risk
is synthetic credit transactions entered into with SPEs. In these
transactions, the Company purchases credit protection in the
form of a credit default swap from the SPE on referenced obliga-
tions (single issuer or portfolio). The Company pays a premium
to the SPE for this protection and is secured by high quality col-
lateral purchased by the SPE. Third party investors in these SPEs
are subject to default risk associated with the referenced obliga-
tions under the default swap as well as credit risk to the assets held
by the SPE. The Company’s maximum loss associated with its
involvernent with such synthetic credit transactions is the present
value of the premium paid by the Company to purchase the
retated credit protection from investors in such SPEs. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, the carrying value of the Company’s credit default
swaps with such SPEs approximated $731 million (however, the
collateral held by such SPEs approximated $5.1 billion).

The Company also enters into certain structured financing
transactions with SPEs to facilitate customers’ investrnent
and/or funding needs. The Company's involvement in these
transactions is generally limited to providing liquidity or other
default protection to investors. At November 30, 2002 and 2001,
the Company had approximately $5.0 billion and $0.7 billiomn,
respectively, of such commitments, which were principaily over-

collateralized with investment grade collateral.

On January 17, 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an interpretation
of ARB No. 51," ("Interpretation No. 46™). This interpretation
pravides new consolidation accounting guidance for entities
involved with SPEs. This guidance does not impact the account-
ing for securitizations transacted through QSPEs, but rather will
replace EITF Topic D-14 as it is applied to non-QSPEs. This
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interpretation will require a primary beneficiary, defined as an
entity which participates in either a majority of the risks or
rewards of such SPE, to consolidate the SPE. An SPE would not
be subject to this interpretation if such entity has sufficient voting
equity capital (presumed to require a minimurn of 10%), such
that the entity is able to finance its activities without the addi-
tional subordinated financial support from other parties. The
interpretation will be effective for all existing transactions with
SPEs beginning in the Company’s fourth quarter of 2003. While
the Company has not yet completed its analysis of the impact of
the new interpretation, the Company does not anticipate that the
adoption of this interpretation will have a material impact on the

Comparny's financial condition or its results of operations.

Note 21
Segments

Lehman Brothers operates in three
segments: Investment Banking,
Capital Markets, and Client Services.

The Investment Banking Division

provides advice to corporate, insti-
tutional and government clients throughout the world on merg-
ers, acquisitions and other financial matters. This Division also
raises capital for clients by underwriting public and private offer-
ings of debt and equity securities.

The Capital Markets Division includes the Company’s institu-
ticnal sales, trading, research and financing activities in equity
and fixed income cash and derivatives products. Through this
Division, the Company is a global market-maker in numerous
equity and fixed income products, including U.S., European and
Asian equities, government and agency securities, money mar-
ket products, corporate high grade, high yield and emerging
market securities, mortgage- and asset-backed securities,
municipal securities, bank loans, foreign exchange and deriva-
tives products. This Division also includes the Company’s risk
arbitrage and secured financing businesses, as well as realized
and unrealized gains and losses related to the Company’s private
equity investments. The financing business manages the Com-
pany’s equity and fixed income matched book activities, supplies
secured financing to institutional clients and customers, and
provides secured funding for the Company’s inventory of equity

and fixed income products.

Client Services revenues reflect earnings from the Company's
Private Client and Private Equity businesses. Private Client rev-

enues reflect the Company’s high-net-worth retail customer

flow activities as well as asset management fees earned from
these clients. Private Equity revenues include the management
and incentive fees earned in the Cornpany’s role as general part-

ner for thirty-three Private Equity partnerships.

The Company’s segment information for the years ended
November 30, 2002, November 30, 2001 and November 30,
2000 is prepared utilizing the following methodologies:

B Revenues and expenses directly associated with each seg-

ment are included in determining pre-tax earnings.

B Expenses not directly associated with specific segments
are allocated based upon the most relevant measures appli-
cable, including each segment’s revenues, headcount and

other factors.

M Net revenues include allocations of interest revenue and
interest expense to securities and other positions in relation
to the cash generated by, or funding requirements of, the

underlying positions.

B Segment assets include an allocation of indirect corporate
assets which have been fully allocated to the Company’s busi-
ness segments, generally based on each segment’s respective

headeount figures.
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T millions

November 30, 2002

Gross revenues 3 113 $ 14,225 3 825 § 16,181
Interest expense - 10,606 21 10,626
Net revenues 1,731 3,620 804 6.155
Depreciation and amertization expense 45 188 25 258
Other expenses 1,276 2,534 588 4,398
Earnings before taxes™® 3 410 3 898 3 Rkl 5 1499
Segment assets (billions) 3 1.6 $ 2537 $ 5.0 $ 2603
November 30, 2001 )
Gross revenues $ 1925 $ 19,605 § 862 $ 22,392
interest expense . - 15,581 75 15,656
Net revenues 1,925 4,024 787 6,736
Depreciation and amaortization expense 25 134 15 174
Other expenses . 1,527 2.568 592 4,687
Earnings before taxes M® $ 3713 3 1322 $ 180 3 1.87%
Segment assets (billions) $ 1.7 § 2403 3 58 $ 2478
November 30, 2000
Gross revenues 5 2179 § 23,200 3 978 $ 26,447
Interest expense - 18,601 139 18,740
Net revenues 2,179 4,689 839 7.707
Depreciation and amortization expense -2 ) 73 9 102
Other expenses ) 1,660 : 2,815 551 5,026
Earnings before taxes " $ 499 $ 1,801 3 279 § 2579

Segment assets (bilfions)

3 2183 3 5.1 5 2247

2 {1} Before dividends on preferred seturities.
7 {2) Excludes the impacet of the real X
settiement charge of $80 million:

(3) Excludes thé impact of Sepl

2002 .. 2000 2000

' Tielve monihs ended Novernber 30

us. ' . $ 3,869 $4.241 § 4,492

Europe : 1.674 1,955 2,389

Asia Pacific . 612 540 826

Total . $6,155 $6.736 % 1.707

The following information describes the Cornpany’s methods of tocation of the salespeople. In addition, certain revenues associ-
allocating consolidated net revenues to geographic regions. Net ated with domestic products and services which resulted from
revenues, if origination or trading-related, have been distributed relationships with international clients and customers have been
based upon the location where the primary or secondary posi- reclassified as international revenues using an allocation consis-
tion was fundamentally risk managed; if fee-related, by the loca- tent with the Company’s internal reporting.

tion of the senior coverage banker; if commission-related, by the

9%
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Note 22 The fellowing information represents the Company’s unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2002 and
“Quarterly 2001. Certain amounts reflect reclassifications to conform to the current period's presentation. These quarterly

{unaudited)

-~ Information results reflect all normal recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair
presentation of the results. Revenues and earnings of the Company can vary significantly from quarter to quar-
ter due to the nature of the Company’s business activities.

2002 2001
Exaept per share amioufits. Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31 Feb. 28 o Aug, 3t May 31_:_
Total revenues 5 4133 $ 4075 $ 4347 3 4226 $ 4300 §$ 5057 § 6284 § 6,752
Interest expense 2,594 2,128 2,684 2,620 3,097 3,429 4,262 4,869
. Net revenues 1.639 1,347 1,663 1,606 1.203 1,628 z2.022 1.883
Non-interest expenses:
Cempensation and benefits 785 687 548 819 615 B30 1,032 960
Nenpersonnel expenses 400 391 379 347 345 363 365 350
September 11th related
(recoveriesl/expenses, net (108) - - - 127 - - -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - - - - - - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - - - - - - -
Tetal non-interest expenses 1,285 1.078 1.227 1,166 1.087 1.193 1,397 1.310
Income before taxes and dividends
an trust preferred securit.ies 254 269 438 440 116 435 625 573
Pravision for income taxes 53 81 126 128 (28} 112 181 172
Dividends on trust preferred
securities 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14
Net income $ 187 $ 124 3 296 $ 298 $ 130 % 309 % 430 % 387
Net income applicable to
‘common stock $ 176 $ 183 % 285 $ 262 3 119 % 298 % 369 % 375
Weighted-average shares
Basic 243.9 246.7 2458 245.3 2419 240.4 2439 246.2
Diluted 255.1 261.0 263.5 265.2 261.5 261.8 266.9 2707
Earnings per commen share
Basic $ 072 % 074 % 116 3 107 $ D49 % 124 % 151 % 152
Diluted $ 0689 3 070 % 108 3§ 099 $ 046 $ 1714 % 138 % 1.39
Dividends per common share $§ 002 $ 009 3 002 $ 009 $ 007 % 007 % 007 $ 007
Bock value per common share
{at period end) $ 3415 $ 33.4¢ § 3322

$ 3247 $ 3181 3§ 2083 $ 2992 $ 2890

o7




Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes certain consolidated financial Information included in the audited consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement Of Income

Revenues: )
Principal transactions . . $ 1,951 $ 2779 $ 3713 $ 2347 3 13713
Investment banking C ' 1,771 2,000 2.216 1,682 1,443
Commissions : 1,286 1,091 944 651 | 513
Interest and dividends - 11,728 16,470 19,440 14,251 16,542
Other 45 52 134 64 25
Total revenues - oo e : 16,781 22,392 26,447 18,989 19,894
Interest expense 10.626 15,656 18,740 13.649 15,781
Net revenues 6,155 6,736 7,707 5,340 4,113
Non-interest expenses:
Compensaticn and benefits ) 3,139 3.437 3931 2,707 2,086
Nonpersonnel expenses 1.517 1.424 1.197 1.002 975
September 11th related
(recoveries)/expenses, net (108} 127 - - -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - - - -
Regulatory settlernent 80 - - - -
Total non-interest expenses 4,756 4,988 5,128 3,709 3.061
Income before taxes and dividends
on trust preferred securities 1,399 1,748 2.579 1,631 1.052
Provision for income taxes 368 437 748 457 316
Dividends cn trust preferred securities 56 56 56 42 -
Net income 5 975 3 1.285 3 1715 3 1132 $ 736
Net income applicable to common stock $ 906 5 1181 $ 1,679 3 1.037 $ 649
Consolidated Statement Of Financtal Condition (ar period enc))
Totat assets $260,336 $247,816 $224,720 $192,244 $153,890
Total assets excluding matched book # 165,995 164,538 143,478 130,022 111,509
Long-term debt ® 38,678 38,301 35,233 30,691 27,341
Preferred securities {subject to mandatory redernption} 710 710 860 710 -
Total stockholders’ equity 8,942 8,459 7.781 6,283 5,413
Total capital & 48,330 47,470 43,874 37.684 32,754
Per Share Data*
Net income * 5 347 3 438 $ 638 $ 408 5 260
Dividends declared per common share $ 036 $ 028 3 022 $ 018 5 015
Book value per common share (at pesiod end) & $ 3415 $ 31.81 § 2878 $ 2275 $ 18.53
Other Data (it period end)
Ratio of total assets to total siockholders’
equity and preferred securitfes 27.0x 27.0x 26.0x 27.5x 28.4x
Ratio of total assets excluding matched book to )
total stockholders’ equity and preferred securities # 17.2x C179x 16.6x 18.6% 20.6x
Erployees 12,343 13.090 11,326 8.893 8.873
Financial Ratios (%)
Compensation and benefits/net reverues 51.0 51.0 51.0 50.7 50.7
Pretax operating margin 227 26.0 335 30.5 25.6
Effective tax rate ® 26.3 250 29.0 28.0 300
Return on average common equity ® 1.2 159 26.6 20.8 15,2
Return on average common equity @nntalized, excluding
redeemable preferred dividendj®? 11.5 16.5 27.4 21.8 16.3
")mmeememthatm lp.r.sman saamuessolduﬁeragraememtofewdmse ["repas™) as

fatement of finacial: ‘condition date. Severa| tionally & ogruzed raling agencies consider such reverse repos:o be 7 pmxy for matched book assets when evafuating the Company's capital
strength.and financlal.ratios: Sich ‘agencies consider i profile and exclide sich amoints in‘the calculation of leverage {total assets divided by tolal stockholders’
I igh ther leristics o the Company's Consolidated Statement of Financtal Conaition, the exclision of reverse repos from -~
{ abilities of a-similar nature, and therefors require minimal amotnts of capital support. Auurdmgy the Company S
idess' ecpsty triist prefmd sectxities to be a more meaniagfil measure of the Companys leverage L

7 le). Diluted EPS was reduced by $0.30 in 2002, as 4 result of the real estate énﬁgwatlon char ?
" redisced by $0.26 in 2007 as a result of September 11th related expenses;
(f) The book value pes. comtnun share caltulation znctudes resm\:ted stock

ward Programs included in stockholders' equity.
chal r 111h refated {recoveries)exp met and regulatory settlement

- charge. Pre-tax operating margin was reduced by appmmmateiy 1.8% in 200725 2 resut of September Hth related expansas, net. - . -
k- The €fective L% rate increised by approximately 3% in 2002, as a result of thie real estate reconfiguration charge, S Tih related (recoverias)fexpenses, net and regulatory seUJernert charge.
The éffective tax fate decreased by approximately 1.3% in 2001, as a result inber 17th related expe! DEeT e .
The Company's returit on common equity was reduced by 1.0% in 2002, as a the real estate regorf} ; ber 11th related f'rﬂrm-' exp et and regulatuq settlement
hargs, The Company's returon comman equity was reduced by 1. 0% in 2007.'as 3’ ‘Tesilt of September 11th related | expenses, el )

(i) Retwn on common equity Calculated using net income beforg adjusting for special pé dividends of $25 million in2002°and $50 miliion in years 1998-2001. These dividendk hava been ex:luded
oo an. adjusted basra (3 they will pa Imger be recuring 2l 2. B
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